BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education

Volume 16, Issue 3, 2024 Special Issue: Overview of Educational Issues



Quarter Horse Foal Ready to Run Lenore, Manitoba





BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education

Volume 16, Issue 3, 2024 Special Issue: Overview of Educational Issues

Online access: www.brandonu.ca/master-education/journal and www.irbu.arcabc.ca Individual articles are also indexed on the ERIC database: www.eric.ed.gov.com

Guest Editor

Dr. Aloysius C. Anyichie Assistant Professor, Faculty of Education, Brandon University

> Aloysius Anyichie (Ph.D.) is an assistant professor in the Department of Educational Psychology and Students' Services in Brandon University. His research focuses on supporting culturally diverse students' regulation of learning, engagement, and motivation. He collaborates with educators in designing learning environments based on a culturally responsive selfregulated learning framework (Anyichie, 2018; Anyichie & Butler, 2017) to support engagement and motivation for all learners. He teaches courses in the B.Ed. After Degree program (e.g., Adolescent Development and the Learning Processes, Evaluation and Assessment) and M.Ed. Graduate Program (e.g., Overview of Educational Issues, Motivation in Education).

Editor

Dr. Marion Terry Professor, Faculty of Education, Brandon University

Cover Photograph

Eric Lowe Harding, Manitoba

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	
Overview of Educational Issues Aloysius C. Anyichie	3
Invited Articles	
Indigenous Perspectives and Sense of Belonging in The Classroom: A Literature Review Madison Carter-Plouffe	6
Key Influences on the Development of Emergent Literacy Skills: A Literature Review Randi M. Hunkin	12
Examining the Negative Impacts of Social Media on Adolescents: A Literature Review Terry-Lynn Ellis, Corrie C. Krahn, Charlene Leslie, Nicole McGlenen, and Barbara J. Pettapie	19
Focus on Faculty	
Understanding Students' Motivational Beliefs and Academic Engagement: A Case Study of an African International Student Aloysius C. Anyichie	27
Call for Papers	39
Call for Cover Illustrations	40

INTRODUCTION

Overview of Educational Issues

Aloysius C. Anyichie

Our classrooms in the 21st century, especially in the western world, attract students from different ethnic and cultural backgrounds with diverse lived experiences and learning needs. The diversity of our student population is beneficial in the ways it enriches learning experiences as it creates opportunities for sharing multiple perspectives and experiences. However, this diversity has also become a challenge for students from the minority cultures who often experience lack of engagement especially in classrooms that do not value their background and lived experiences (Anyichie et al., 2023a, 2023b). Consequently, student diversity has become a contemporary educational issue as educators struggle in designing a supportive learning environment for all learners in culturally diverse classrooms. To better support all students in today's multicultural classrooms, there is a need to constantly examine how our educational policies and instructional practices are attending to their diverse needs (e.g., equitable access to quality education, language barriers, ensuring student mental health and well-being, financial and housing crisis). Therefore, educators are encouraged to engage in constant professional development, especially on cultural intelligence, to improve themselves so as to better understand the diverse needs of their students and support their positive learning experiences.

During the 2023/2024 fall term, in-service educators who are pursuing their master's degree in education enrolled in our graduate course Overview of Educational Issues in Brandon University. This course is designed to engage the students in exploring important educational issues through critical inquiry and [to] improve their academic writing skills. One of the major assignments in this course was for the students to identify, based on their personal experiences and perceptions in practice, what they consider the major issues in our educational system today. They were expected to conduct a literature review around their identified issue while proffering some solutions. Building on collaborative inquiry framework (Butler & Schnellert, 2012; Timperley et al., 2014), the students were guided in identifying their issues of interest, conducting brief literature reviews, reflecting on their practices, and improving their academic writings. Based on the similarities of some students' chosen issues, some opted to collaborate on the assignment by working in small groups. They had opportunities to offer and receive constructive feedback on their papers before final submissions. While each assignment was unique in how it addressed the identified issue, the common theme that emerged was the impact of multiple layers of socio-cultural context (e.g., home, family, cultural background, social media. classrooms, and teacher practices) on students' learning processes. This theme draws attention to the importance of understanding the interaction between the learners-in-context while addressing the current issues in education. This special issue of the BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education features three outstanding articles from the students after undergoing additional reviews based on their interest in having their papers published.

It should be noted that Brandon University campuses are located on Treaty 1 and Treaty 2 homelands of the Dakota Oyate, Anishinabek, Cree, Oji-Cree, Dene, and Red River Metis Peoples. In the opening article, Carter-Plouffe (2024) considers the importance of sense of belonging in students' lives. She examines how educators could support sense of belonging in their schools and classrooms, especially for Indigenous students. Specifically, Carter-Plouffe argues for the implementation of Indigenous perspectives and practices (e.g., circle of courage, land-based education, whole-child approach to teaching, Seven Grandfather Teachings) as a way of supporting students' sense of belonging.

The next article by Hunkin (2024) looks at the key influences on the development of emergent literacy skills. Emergent literacy skills refer to knowledge of letter and their sounds, word recognition, comprehension and phonological awareness (Piasta et al., 2020; Puranik et al., 2021). Hunkin explored the many factors that influence children's ability to read and write which are regarded as the main components of literacy. However, the factors considered in this article include home literacy environment (i.e., parent teaching and shared reading), classroom dynamics (e.g., classroom sizes, teacher assistant supports, teacher assistant training), and classroom interventions (e.g., small-group tutoring, one-to-one intervention). Educators are called to consider these factors while supporting the development of their young students' literacy skills that are essential for academic success.

Another contemporary issue ensued from the COVID-19 pandemic. During the pandemic, we migrated to virtual learning that added to the amount of time students spent on social media. Although social media is a good tool for effective learning and communication, it also has some negative impacts on the students (Talaue et al., 2018). Thus, the third article by Ellis et al. (2024) examines the negative impacts of social media on adolescents. Based on their review, Ellis et al. identified impacts focused on health (e.g., social-emotional, mental, physical health) and academic performance. Elis et al. note that adolescents are struggling a lot with the effects of social media usage on their learning, especially after the COVID-19, and calls on the need to support their responsible self-regulation of these tools and educate them on balancing their life online and in-person.

Student learning engagement is influenced by different contextual factors. For example, research has shown how students' task perception in terms of being valuable, important, and relevant to them is associated to their learning engagement (Anyichie, 2018; in press; Anyichie et al., 2023a, 2023b). As our classrooms are increasingly populated by students with diverse languages and cultures, the Focus on Faculty article by Anyichie (2024) circles back to the major theme across the articles in this issue, by examining the impact of social and cultural context on students' motivational beliefs, especially self-efficacy, and how educators could leverage the understanding of such impact in designing an efficacy-supportive learning environment for all learners. Academic self-efficacy defines students' judgement and interpretations of their capability to be successful in completing a task (Bandura, 1997). Building on a case study of Frank, an African international student in North America, the article exposes subtle ways in which Frank's self-efficacy development over the school years was shaped by his cultural background. For example, it shows how Frank's socio-cultural expectations (e.g., making the family proud), classroom context (e.g., teacher practices), and religious belief (e.g., the power of prayer in dealing with challenges and achieving success) were influential in his self-efficacy belief, motivation, and engagement. Anyichie (2024) strongly calls for more empirical study to investigate how non-western students' self-efficacy develops over time and how their self-efficacy, engagement, and motivation are situated in their social and cultural contexts.

The articles in this special issue together provide a great starting point for all educational stakeholders to consider some of the issues that classroom teachers, especially in Canada, consider essential to address in our educational system. These articles show how educators can be researchers as part of their journey to address the challenges they face in their classrooms. Finally, I hope that policy makers, educators, and researchers will find this special issue so informative that they will consider acting on the authors' recommendations in their various contexts.

References

- Anyichie, A. C. (2018). Supporting all learners' engagement in a multicultural classroom using a culturally responsive self-regulated learning framework [Doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia]. The University of British Columbia Open Collections. https://doi.org/10.14288/1.0375773
- Anyichie, A., C. (2024). Understanding students' motivational beliefs and academic engagement: A case study of an African international student. *BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education*, *16*(3), 27-38.
- Anyichie, A. C., & Butler, D. L. (2023b). A pedagogical approach to fostering culturally diverse learners' engagement in self-regulated learning. *British Journal of Teacher Education and Pedagogy, 2*(2), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.32996/bjtep.2023.2.2.1
- Anyichie, A. C., Butler, D. L., & Nashon, S. M. (2023a). Exploring teacher practices for enhancing student engagement in culturally diverse classrooms. *Journal of Pedagogical Research*, 7(5), 183-207. https://doi.org/10.33902/JPR.202322739
- Anyichie, A. C., (in press). Preparing future culturally responsive classroom teacher leaders through weaving of cultural relevance into regular instructional practices. In C. Smith & L. Schnellert (Eds.), *Research in teacher leadership in Canada: Transformative and contextualized agency*. Canadian Association for Teacher Education.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review, 84*(2), 191-215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Butler, D. L., & Schnellert, L. (2012). Collaborative inquiry in teacher professional development. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *28*(8), 1206-1220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2012.07.009
- Carter-Plouffe, M. (2024). Indigenous perspectives and sense of belonging in the classroom: A literature review. *BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education, 16*(3), 6-11.
- Ellis, T., Krahn, C. C., Leslie, C., McGlenen, N., & Pettapie, B. J. (2024). Examining the negative impacts of social media on adolescents: A literature review. *BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education*, *16*(3), 19-26.
- Hunkin, R., M. (2024). Key influences on the development of emergent literacy skills. *BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education, 16*(3), 12-18.
- Piasta, S. B., Logan, J. A. R., Thomas, L. J. G., Zettler-Greeley, C. M., Bailet, L. L., & Lewis, K. (2021). Implementation of a small-group emergent literacy intervention by preschool teachers and community aides. *Journal of Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 54*, 31-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2020.08.002
- Puranik, C. S., Lonigan, C. J., & Kim, Y. -S. (2011). Contributions of emergent literacy skills to name writing, letter writing, and spelling in preschool children. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 26*(4), 465-474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2011.03.002
- Talaue, G. M., AlSaad, A., AlRushaidan, N., AlHugail, A., & AlFahhad, S. (2018). The impact of social media on academic performance of selected college students. *International Journal* of Advanced Information Technology, 8(4/5), 27-35. https://doi.org/10.5121/ijait.2018.8503

Acknowledgements

I am grateful to my 2023/2024 cohort graduate students in the 07:752 Overview of Educational Issue course whose classroom assignments inspired this special issue. I thank all of them for working as a community of learners, especially the constructive feedback they provided on each other's papers. I thank the different reviewers whose constructive feedback shaped the quality of the articles featured in this special issue. I equally thank Dr. Marion Terry for the invitation to serve as a guest editor for this special issue.

INVITED ARTICLES

Indigenous Perspectives and Sense of Belonging in the Classroom: A Literature Review

Madison Carter-Plouffe

Abstract

This article examines how educators can create a sense of belonging in their school and classroom communities by infusing Indigenous perspectives. A literature review was conducted by examining various peer-reviewed sources. It was found that students who feel a sense of belonging are more likely to be more motivated at school, take risks, and have positive mental health experiences. Educators can promote a strong sense of belonging through the classroom community, peer relationships, and the physical learning environment by incorporating Indigenous perspectives such as a whole-child approach, land-based education, the Seven Grandfather Teachings, and the Circle of Courage. Results showed that a sense of belonging can be accomplished through Indigenous perspectives by considering social-emotional status of children, the peacefulness of the physical space, and seeing children as positive contributors to society.

In Canada, students typically spend 5,500 cumulative hours between ages 6-11 in school (Statistics Canada, 2020). Children spend a large portion of their lives in classrooms, and many learning outcomes are affected by whether students feel they belong within their school communities or not. Bouchard and Berg (2017) described "sense of belonging" as feeling accepted and a sense of fit within a community. The literature shows centuries of Indigenous practices that support sense of belonging within a community. There are ways that educators can connect Indigenous perspectives to sense of belonging for students in their classrooms. As a result, this article presents how implementing Indigenous perspectives creates a sense of belonging for all students. It analyzes the importance of sense of belonging within a classroom community, peer relationships, and the physical learning environment using specific Indigenous perspectives such as a whole-child approach, land-based education, the Seven Grandfather Teachings, and the Circle of Courage.

The Importance of Belonging

To understand how to use Indigenous perspectives to create a sense of belonging, we must first analyze why belonging is important. Student sense of belonging is important because it impacts their success in school. Research confirms that a strong sense of belonging in elementary-age students has a positive impact on academic and health outcomes (Allen et al., 2021). When students feel they belong within their classroom and school community, they may feel more likely to fully participate in their learning experience and take more risks. For students to take risks, they must feel a sense of safety and support. This may also influence attendance because students who feel they belong to a community may feel more excited to be with that community. Consistent attendance has a positive correlation with students' academic success. Brendtro et al. (2013), creators of the Circle of Courage model, stated that students' understanding of how their behaviour and actions can benefit their community is a strong indicator of academic success. Students will contribute positively to their school and classroom communities when they are empathetic, helpful, generous, cooperative, and pleasant. These contributions and behaviours help to create a safe and supportive learning environment.

Student sense of belonging is important because it affects their mental health. If students do not feel a sense of belonging, they are more likely to experience negative mental health struggles such as depression and other risky behaviours (Millings et al., 2012). Insecure attachment styles that involve feeling abandoned or unsupported by others lead to a higher possibility of developing depression. Students' attachment styles can vary and change greatly during their adolescence. It is important that educators give students the tools to create healthy attachments and relationships with their peers, reducing the risk of developing depression. Insecure peer attachment styles and lack a sense of belonging feel distrust towards others and do not feel as though they have a support system during times of stress. They may not picture themselves as worthy of having positive connections with others. Using Indigenous perspectives in the classroom, such as the Circle of Courage and the Seven Grandfather Teachings, is a holistic way to ensure that all students have the tools to create positive relationships among others and create a sense of belonging within the school community.

Belonging Within the Classroom Community

One Indigenous perspective educators can use to create a sense of belonging is the Circle of Courage. The Circle of Courage was first introduced by Brendtro, Brokenleg, and Van Bockern (Manitoba Education, n.d.). The four quadrants of the Circle are belonging, generosity, independence, and mastery, and the model is based on a traditional Indigenous medicine wheel or sacred hoop. The Circle of Courage gives educators a framework to create a sense of belonging in the classroom because it is a model for positive youth development. Jackson (2014) stated that positive youth development is an outlook that sees all youth as being positive contributors to society. When educators use the Circle of Courage model in their classroom, they are giving students the tools to become positive contributors within their classroom communities. A large part of being a contributing member to society is feeling as if one belongs to a community and therefore has responsibility towards that community. Jackson claimed that another part of positive youth development is socialization, focusing primarily on the skills, attitudes, and values of the groups of which they will become members of. Similar to the Seven Teachings, educators can incorporate the Circle of Courage into their classrooms by creating a class value or goal system around the four quadrants. Students can learn to value their classroom and community within the four quadrants of the Circle of Courage, which leads them to feel a sense of belonging and responsibility within that community. Positive youth development promotes self-efficacy because of the 5C's: competence, character, confidence, caring, and connection (Lerner, 2009). Each of these qualities builds students' independence, enabling them to accomplish tasks or goals. Therefore, the Circle of Courage can be used as a goal-setting system whereby students can set goals, self-assess, and reflect on their learning.

We see similar themes of strength in community and collectively working towards the greater good of community-based caring in land-based education. Land-based education occurs when students learn from the natural world and their responsibility to the land. It uses the land and nature as the first teacher (Bowra et al., 2021). Gaudet (2021) explained that when children learn with the land, they feel the unpredictability of the climate and their surroundings, which helps them to understand the difference between individualistic attitudes and sharing their resources and knowledge. This is a natural way for educators to teach their students about the values needed to create a healthy classroom community, such as sharing, problem-solving, and teamwork. As a strong classroom community is established, all students should feel a stronger sense of belonging. Learning how to rely on the land gives students the confidence and tools to be independent and fosters a sense of pride in what they are collectively working towards, such as protecting the land and resources. To do so, educators must ensure that the classroom community is a safe space where student behaviour does not impact the learning environment.

The Circle of Courage creates a sense of belonging in the classroom by offering educators a framework to better understand child behaviour. Reyneke (2020) stated that the Circle of Courage provides strategies throughout the four quadrants to manage unexpected behaviours and improve the classroom culture. When the Circle of Courage is used as a restorative justice model, it provides educators with the knowledge of why children behave the way they do, as well as proactive ways to change the classroom culture. Reyneke (2020) explained how certain behaviours impact both the learning environment and peer relationships. In order to create a safe and balanced learning environment, educators must have an understanding of belonging, mastery, generosity, and independence, and of how to use classroom management strategies to manage the classroom and create an environment where children are ready to learn and develop positive peer relationships.

Belonging Through Peer Relationships

When educators use a whole-child approach to teaching, students are more likely to feel a sense of belonging. According to Chafouleas and Iovino (2021), the whole-child lens of teaching is embedded within the six developmental pathways of child development previously established by Comer (2020). The six pathways are cognitive, physical, social, language, ethical, and psychological. The social pathway features the ability to build and maintain relationships with peers across multiple settings. As educators engage in whole-child teaching, they also facilitate the development of student relationships. As students create and maintain strong relationships across multiple domains, they are more likely to feel a strong sense of social belonging. According to Yoder (2014), two of the five social-emotional competencies required for students to be successful in school and life are related to social regulation and relationship management. Social-emotional learning considers the whole child rather than just academic ability. Students who have strong social-emotional skills are more likely to identify social cues, evaluate emotional reactions from others, appreciate diversity, communicate effectively, and manage conflicts appropriately. Whole-child approaches such as considering the developmental pathways and social-emotional teaching help students to cultivate relationships and establish a strong sense of belonging.

Cultivating and creating relationships is a way that a sense of belonging can be established through the Seven Grandfather Teachings. Using the Seven Grandfather Teachings as a classroom value system creates a culture of respect, inclusion, and belonging among students. When educators use the Seven Grandfather Teachings in their classroom values, they are teaching their students about the purpose and value of respect, love, humility, wisdom, bravery, honesty, and truth. Absolon (2016) clarified that the Seven Grandfather Teachings model mutual respect and inclusivity for everyone. These guiding principles are the foundation for mutual respect of all students and adults in the classroom, regardless of ability, identity, background, or status. Mahar et al. (2013) noted how social belonging is defined by the subjective feeling of respect. When students feel completely respected for who they are, they are more likely to feel a sense of belonging within their classroom. Verbos and Humphries (2014) claimed that the Teachings are instructions on human responsibility and values that people need to create relationships with one another. Educators cannot assume that students have a complete understanding of human responsibility. They therefore need to explicitly teach these responsibilities in their classes by helping students understand the importance of respecting one another, acting with integrity and fairness, and being accountable for their share of the classroom environment. Using the Seven Grandfather Teachings as a value system gives students a reference point that is easy to understand and reminds them of their responsibilities towards the classroom and their peers.

Belonging Within the Physical Learning Environment

Along with respect and inclusion, the Seven Grandfather Teachings highlight themes of peace and safety. Absolon (2016) stated that the Seven Grandfather Teachings are guiding principles that can restore balance and harmony. Mahar et al. (2013) claimed that physical and social environments affect sense of belonging. Because the physical environment impacts belonging, it is important to use principles that promote balance, harmony, peace, and safety in the classroom. While some students feel belonging as connection with others, others may see it as belonging within a physical space. Therefore, educators need to ensure that their classroom and school environments are safe and harmonious for students to feel welcomed into.

This relates to the Indigenous perspective of land-based education where the physical space is neutral, connected, and safe. Land-based education creates a safe space for students to connect with each other and nature. According to Fast et al. (2021), researchers view land-based education as a safe space where students can learn without feelings of shame or judgement. Land-based education occurs in a neutral place where students can learn and engage in inquiry about the natural world that surrounds them. Where some students may perceive the physical space of a classroom as a barrier to belonging, the outdoors is a space where most students feel calm, connected, and safe. The Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario (2020) described land-based learning as asking questions, making mistakes, and learning from those mistakes. When students feel they are in a natural space where they can make mistakes without judgement from their peers, they are more likely to feel like they belong and are actively part of the learning experience. Educators can use overall skills and attitudes such as observation, constructing, inquiry, research, predicting, recording, exploring, and reflecting to guide their land-based education journey in all subject areas.

Conclusion

To better understand Indigenous perspectives on belonging, this article first looked at why belonging is important and how it affects students' overall well-being and mental health. The literature confirms that a strong sense of belonging directly correlates to academic achievement. This relationship is due to the fact that a sense of belonging giving students the confidence to take risks in their learning, as well as an excitement to attend school. It also correlates with whether students may experience mental health struggles such as depression. It is important for educators to give students the tools to feel a sense of belonging and form healthy attachments with their peers.

Belonging within a classroom community can be accomplished through the Circle of Courage model and land-based education. The Circle of Courage creates a sense of belonging because it is a model for positive youth development, which is an outlook that children are positive contributors to society and therefore feel a sense of responsibility towards the community they belong to. When incorporating land-based education, students have the confidence to be curious and make mistakes, knowing they are supported within their community and feeling proud of what they are collectively working towards.

Belonging through peer relationships is modelled through a whole-child approach and the Seven Grandfather Teachings. The developmental pathways and social-emotional status of children as seen through the whole-child approach empowers students to cultivate relationships, which leads to a sense of belonging. The competency of emotional regulation highlights specific skills that would help students develop relationships. Using the Seven Grandfather Teachings creates an environment of inclusion and mutual respect, which leads to a feeling of social belonging. The Teachings are a model for human responsibility; therefore, educators must provide explicit instructions to students on their responsibilities towards each other and the classroom. This simultaneously creates an environment where students feel safe and welcomed into. Lastly, this article analyzed belonging within a physical learning environment. The Seven Grandfather Teachings create safe and peaceful environments, which relates to land-based education that provides neutral and calm spaces where children can organically connect with one another and nature. Land-based education encourages children to be curious and make mistakes, leading to children feeling as if they belong through an active learning experience.

Future examinations of students' sense of belonging in school should consider how Indigenous perspectives fit into reconciliation efforts in Canada, including the Truth and Reconciliation Commission's 94 Calls to Action. While Indigenous pedagogy dates back centuries, reconciliatory education is a relatively new concept. Due to the nature of this topic, limitations include lack of documentation for traditional Indigenous teachings because the main source of those teachings is traditional oral storytelling. There is also a lack of research directly relating to Treaty 1 territory teachings. Further research of will need to take into consideration that there is no standard way to gather this data.

References

- Absolon, K. (2016). Wholistic and ethical: Social inclusion with Indigenous Peoples. *Social Inclusion, 4*(1), 49-53. https://doi.org/10.17645/si.v4i1.444
- Allen, K., Kern, M. L., Rozek, C. S., McInerney, D. M., & Slavich, G. M. (2021). Belonging: A review of conceptual issues, an integrative framework, and directions for future research. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, *73*(1), 6-7. https://doi.org/10.1080/00049530.2021.1883409
- Bowra, A., Mashford-Pringle, A., & Poland, B. (2021). Indigenous learning on Turtle Island: A review of the literature on land-based learning. *The Canadian Geographer*, *65*(2), 132-140. https://doi.org/10.1111/cag.12659
- Bouchard, K. L., & Berg, D. H. (2017). Students' school belonging: Juxtaposing the perspectives of teachers and students in the late elementary school years (grades 4-8). *The School Community Journal*, 27(1), 107. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1146469.pdf
- Brendtro, L. K., Brokenleg, M., Van Bockern, S. (2013). The Circle of Courage: Developing resilience and capacity in youth. *International journal for talent development and creativity*, 1(1), 71. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1301374.pdf
- Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario. (2020). Indigenous land-based learning. https://columbiacollege-ca.libguides.com/apa/governmentdocs
- Fast, E., Lefebvre, M., Reid, C., Deer, W. B., Swiftwolfe, D., Clark, M., Boldo, V., Mackie, J., & Mackie, R. (2021). Restoring our roots: Land-based community by and for Indigenous youth. *International Journal of Indigenous Health*, *16*(2), 126. https://doi.org/10.32799/ijih.v16i2.33932
- Gaudet, J. C. V. (2021). Project George: An Indigenous land-based approach to resilience for youth. *International Journal of Indigenous Health*, *16*(2), 185. https://doi.org/10.32799/ijih.v16i2.31668
- Jackson, W. C. (2014). The Circle of Courage: Child socialization in the 21st century. *Wayne State University Dissertations.* 2-14. https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2092&context=oa_dissertations
- Lerner, R. M. (2009). The positive youth development perspective: Theoretical and empirical bases of a strengths-based approach to adolescent development. *Oxford Handbook of Positive Psychology*, 149-164. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195187243.013.0014
- Mahar, A. L., Cobigo, V., & Stuart, H. (2013). Conceptualizing belonging. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *35*(11), 1031. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2012.717584
- Manitoba Education. (n.d.). *Circle of courage philosophy*. https://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/cur/cardev/gr9_found/courage_poster.pdf

- Millings, A., Buck, R., Montgomery, A., Spears, M., & Stallard, P. (2012). School connectedness, peer attachment, and self-esteem as predictors of adolescent depression. *Journal of Adolescence*, *35*(4), 1065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2012.02.015
- Reyneke, R. P. (2020). Increasing resilience, lowering risk: teachers' use of the circle of courage in the classroom. *Perspectives in Education*, *38*(1), 145, 158. https://doi.org/10.18820/2519593X/pie.v38i1.11
- Statistics Canada. (2020). Education indicators in Canada: An international perspective (No. 81–604-X2020001). https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/81-604-x/2020001/ch/chc-eng.htm
- Verbos, A. K., & Humphries, M. (2014). A native American relational ethic: An Indigenous perspective on teaching human responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *123*(1), 2–3. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1790-3

About the Author

Madison Carter-Plouffe is an elementary teacher in Winnipeg, Manitoba, located on Treaty 1 Territory. Madison completed her Bachelor of Science in Agribusiness and her Bachelor of Education at the University of Manitoba. She is currently pursuing a Master of Education in educational administration at the University of Brandon.

Key Influences on the Development of Emergent Literacy Skills: A Literature Review

Randi M. Hunkin

Abstract

This literature review examines the main factors in a child's life that directly impact the development of emergent literacy skills. The literature in this review was collected from several peer-reviewed articles and government-certified websites. As discussed in the literature, the development of emergent literacy skills is dependent upon a child's phonological awareness. The review identified the home literacy environment (HLE) as an area that is influential in developing emergent literacy skills, as a result of providing a continuation from school to home. Other key factors include the dynamic of the classroom and programming or interventions provided. Overall, this literature review demonstrates the importance of emergent literacy. The author concludes that the home literacy environment, classroom dynamic, and interventions/programming provided are the main factors in a child's life that affect early literacy development.

Literacy refers to the ability to read and write. Reading requires a wide variety of skills, and children who have not mastered these skills often struggle to be effective readers. Over the last ten years, approximately 46% of grade 3 students in Manitoba have met the literacy expectations for reading, so 54% do not yet meet the expected outcomes (Government of Manitoba, 2012-2022). Thus, 54% of grade 3 students have not mastered emergent literacy skills. Three of the most prevalent factors affecting emergent literacy skills are the Home Literacy Environment (HLE), classroom dynamic, and interventions and programming. Within the HLE, parent teaching and shared reading are areas that impact literacy skill development. The classroom dynamic includes class size, teacher assistant (TA) support, and TA training. Based on a review of the literature, this article discusses the importance of emergent literacy skill development, and argues that the main influences on early reading/writing skill development are the HLE, classroom dynamic, and programs or interventions provided.

This literature review has three goals. The first is to discuss the importance of emergent literacy skill development and to elaborate on what emergent literacy skills entail. The second is to evaluate the influence of the HLE and classroom dynamic on early reading. The third is to discuss the effect of interventions and programming on literacy skills development. Overall, this article aims at foregrounding the importance of emergent literacy and identifying a few areas for improving emergent literacy.

Literacy and Emergent Literacy Skills

Reading and writing are the main components of literacy. According to Frankel et al. (2016), literacy is how people use reading, writing, and oral language to develop meaning. To successfully accomplish this, it is crucial that emergent literacy skills are developed. Emergent literacy skills include letter/sound knowledge, word recognition, phonological awareness, and comprehension (Piasta et al., 2020; Puranik et al., 2011). A major component, and arguably the most important, as stated by Slavin et al. (2010), is phonological awareness (PA). PA refers to the ability to manipulate and recognize letter-sound relationships, syllables and words (Rice et al., 2022). When students understand letter-sound relationships, they can apply that knowledge to understand how syllables and words are formed. This understanding is vital to the development of early reading skills. Without PA, early readers will have a difficult time developing the reading and writing skills needed to advance (Rice et al., 2022). Notable factors

that have a positive effect on the development of emergent literacy skills are the HLE, classroom dynamic, and interventions/programming.

Home Literacy Environment

The HLE (i.e., parent teaching and shared reading), has an important impact on emergent literacy skills. Fikrat-Wevers et al. (2021) defined the HLE as the environment created by the family to assist with the learning of early reading, writing, and language skills. The HLE can be categorized into formal and informal activities. Formal activities include direct teaching of letters, sounds, and words, whereas informal activities refer to shared reading experiences between the parent and child, or the singing of nursery rhymes (Inoue et al., 2018; Sénéchal & LeFevre, 2014). An example of a formal activity could include flashcards of letters and words, or using pictures to work on naming beginning sounds. Informal activities could include reading stories before bed and singing nursery rhymes on road trips or short drives. Both formal and informal activities, as part of the HLE, are beneficial to the development of emergent literacy skills.

Parent Teaching

Parents play a significant role in their children's development of literacy skills. Therefore, parental involvement in such educational activities as literacy-based activities is essential to the development of emergent literacy skills. Inoue et al. (2018) concluded that parent teaching correlates with letter knowledge, phonological awareness (PA), and vocabulary and naming speed, all of which provide the basis for early literacy skills and reading comprehension. When parents spend time immersing their child(ren) in literacy-based activities at home, they are helping to develop the fundamental skills needed to read and write. Research also shows that children's participation in shared reading at home helps to increase their oral vocabulary and their knowledge about print (Sénéchal & LeFevre, 2014), which in turn will help with comprehension. In addition to shared reading, Inoue et al. confirmed that when parents lead their child in formal activities, specifically the teaching of letters, words, and spelling patterns, they are assisting the development of the child's PA. By working with their child at home, the parent provides an alternate learning environment apart from the classroom setting. This parental involvement supports what is being taught at school, encourages the learning process, and positively impacts the development of emergent literacy skills.

Socio-Economic Status

The effectiveness of the HLE depends on the number of accessible resources; therefore, socio-economic status (SES) can have an effect. SES directly impacts the financial capabilities of each family and as a result has a direct connection with the parents' ability to maintain the HLE. Fikrat-Wevers et al. (2021) stated that family income can directly impact the ability to purchase engaging resources and provide a stimulating HLE. As a result, the variety of children's storybooks or educational resources in the home may be restricted by SES. In addition, the access to free resources, such as the public library, may be limited due to transportation availability or limitations (Burris et al., 2019).

Supporting the Home Literacy Environment

If resources are scarce as a result of low SES, it can be difficult for a parent to develop an HLE that nurtures emergent literacy skills. It is important that the HLE is supported, for both the children and the parents. There are different ways that this can be accomplished. Family Literacy Programs that include parent training on how to effectively teach specific skills have been found to be successful (Fikrat-Wevers et al. 2021). The donation of resources, such as

children's storybooks or games that work on letter knowledge or different PA skills, would be beneficial and help to offset the limited resources that some low-SES families are able to obtain (Fikrat-Wevers et al. 2021). By supporting the HLE, the development of emergent literacy skills improves, reinforcing the correlation between the HLE and emergent literacy.

Classroom Dynamic

The dynamic of the classroom plays an important role in how effectively a teacher can teach in order to support emergent literacy skills development. Therefore, there is a need to consider the connection between classroom dynamic, teacher instructional practices, and literacy skill development. Important areas in the make-up of the classroom that influence a teacher's ability to teach include class size and TA support and training.

Classroom Sizes

Class sizes have a fundamental role in student-teacher interaction in regard to both the quantity and quality of interactions. The number of students per classroom varies depending on the location and setting of the school (i.e., urban, suburban, or rural). Classes often contain anywhere from 15 to 30 students, one teacher, and possibly a TA (Laitsch et al., 2023). Class size reduction can have a positive impact on teacher-student relationships, student achievement, and engagement (Francis & Barnett, 2019). For example, as student-teacher interactions increase, the more connected the students feel with their teacher, which then increases their engagement and performance in class. Additionally, teachers with smaller class sizes feel as though they can provide more one-to-one or small-group instruction (Laitsch et al., 2021). Francis and Barnett's (2019) research found that smaller class sizes resulted in improved basic literacy skills due to a higher number of quality interactions with the teacher. Teachers with smaller class sizes are able to spend more time individually with their students, therefore increasing the quality of engagement and academic achievement within the classroom.

Teacher Assistant Support

TAs are an important part of the educational system. Their role traditionally involves supporting students with individualized educational plans (IEPs) and the delivery of intervention programming for low-achieving students (Bennet et al., 2021). However, the more support students require and receive from a TA, the less contact time they have with a qualified teacher, which leads to less academic progress than students who receive less TA support (Webster et al., 2013). If struggling students were to spend more time with a qualified teacher or TA, they would be more likely to receive higher quality instruction. Additionally, Bennet et al. (2021) found that students who spend more time with the TA, and less with their teacher and classmates, can have feelings of separation and exclusion. Feelings of separation will then take a toll on how comfortable these students feel in the classroom, leading to disengagement. The less engaged students are, the more difficult it is for them to learn. As a result, the role of a TA should be reevaluated. Students who require more support should have more direct contact with the qualified teacher, and less with the TA, unless that TA is adequately trained. A reassessment would result in a change to the daily role of TAs, where they would provide more support to the students who have a higher academic success rate and help the teacher by way of classroom management (Webster et al., 2013). In so doing, the teacher would be able to work in small groups with struggling learners or IEP students, and provide one-to-one support when needed. As a result, every student would benefit and be provided the opportunity to be successful and develop those fundamental literacy skills. TAs are an important part of education and can be helpful in many ways.

Teacher Assistant Training

For TAs to be the most effective, it is very important that they are sufficiently trained. The role of the TA typically consists of working with struggling learners or students with IEPs, and as a result separates those students from the qualified teacher. While the specifications of the TA's job are being discussed, it is also important to discuss TA training. In many cases, as identified by Bennet et al. (2021), TAs are tasked with the differentiation and instruction of curriculum for the students they are assigned to work with. This means that the TAs are directly teaching the students they are assigned to and having to adapt the tasks to the students' specific needs. In addition, many TAs do not have the qualifications or professional training to implement these tasks (Bennet et al.). Webster et al. (2013) found that when TAs were explicitly coached and prepared, they had a positive impact on a student's progress. The proper and professional training of TAs is fundamental. At the very least, it is important that adequate time is allocated for teachers to work and collaborate with the TAs. As discussed by Bennet et al., when schedules have been adjusted and time is provided for preparation and collaboration between the teachers and TAs, TA understanding is enhanced, resulting in improved lessons and instruction. Training and collaboration will not only improve TA impact on the classroom, but also provide adequate assistance to the teacher and the students, which will have an overall positive impact on emergent literacy skill development.

Interventions/Programming

Over the years, there have been many different intervention programs for struggling readers. These intervention programs include Reading Recovery, Success for All, Lindamood Phoneme Sequencing program (LiPs), Response to Intervention, and Reading Rescue (Miles et al., 2022; Siegel, 2020; Slavin et al., 2010). Among these programs, the most effective programs contain a strong phonics component (Rice et al., 2022). Because phonological awareness is essential for reading and writing abilities, phonics development is necessary in literacy interventions and programming. It has also been noted that small-group tutoring and one-to-one intervention programming yields higher results (Piasta et al., 2020).

Small-Group Tutoring

Small-group tutoring occurs when the teacher or TA work with a set of students who require extra support. This tends to be the traditional form of remedial instruction (Slavin et al., 2010). Small-group interventions have shown improvement in vocabulary, phonological awareness, and decoding skills (Piasta et al., 2021). Due to the effect of smaller group sizes, teachers are able to provide higher quality interactions with the students, which in turn increases their engagement, demonstrating positive effects on emergent literacy skill development. The more engaged students are, the more likely they are to be active learners and participants, increasing their knowledge and understanding of what is being taught. Additionally, small groups provide more opportunity for response and feedback from the teacher (Rice et al., 2022). When teachers are able to provide more feedback, they are also able to immediately address misconceptions that the students may have. Small-group tutoring also allows for the promotion of positive social interactions, and the ability for students to learn from others that are at a similar level (Miles et al., 2022). Students learn from each other just as much as they learn from their teacher. When they are provided the chance to work with peers, they can help to support each other in their learning, providing an additional opportunity to improve their literacy abilities. As a result, small-group tutoring can be as effective as one-to-one interventions, and is ultimately more effective than whole-group instruction when developing emergent literacy skills (Piasta et al., 2021).

One-to-One Intervention

One-to-one intervention is a remarkably effective form of remedial instruction. Slavin et al. (2010), argued that one-to-one intervention is very effective in improving emergent literacy skills and reading performance. This form of intervention allows teachers to provide individualized instruction and feedback (Miles et al., 2022). As a result, teachers are able to focus on and address a student's individual needs. Additionally, one-to-one tutoring enables the teacher to put more attention on specific skills, and explicitly teach skills that a student may be struggling with (Slavin et al., 2010). Research on one-to-one intervention validates the positive effect of individualized intervention on emergent literacy skill development (Miles et al., 2022).

Phonological Awareness

Both one-to-one interventions and small-group tutoring are effective methods of working towards improved phonological awareness. Phonological awareness (PA) is the ability to manipulate sounds, syllables, and words (Rice et al., 2022). More specifically, it includes rhyme detection, syllable segmentation (separating syllables), blending sounds to make words, and phoneme detection and segmentation (i.e., beginning and final sound recognition and separation; Siegel, 2020). PA is the most important aspect of emergent literacy skills, because it provides children with the necessary concepts for reading and writing. The different aspects of PA help students to understand how words work. Teachers often use a scope and sequence (i.e., chronological order) to ensure they are teaching the major letter-sound relationships required to decode (read) words (Miles et al., 2022), focusing on the most common spelling patterns first, then increasing in difficulty. PA contains the necessary components needed to develop emergent literacy skills, and to decode words. Research continues to emphasize the importance of having a strong phonics component in all literacy teaching, including whole-class, small-group, and one-to-one interventions (Miles et al., 2022; Rice et al., 2022).

Limitations and Recommendations for the Future

In education, the ability to implement programs and provide professional development usually comes down to funding. Providing resources for families' HLEs, such as family literacy programs, can be costly. Similarly, training for TAs requires professionals to train them and time allocated for the training, all of which can be expensive. Due to the importance of emergent literacy skills and the effect these factors have on students' literacy development, it would be beneficial for research to be conducted on different modes of funding for these initiatives, or government grants that provide financial support in these areas (Hadley et al., 2023; Henríguez, 2005; Laitsch et al., 2021; Smith, 2011). Another limitation that was found to be consistent throughout the review of research was the potential bias from the HLE. Most data collected was received via self-reported surveys, therefore potentially inflating some of the data collected on what some families do in their HLE (Inoue et al., 2018; Sénéchal & LeFevre, 2014). It might prove beneficial to collect data through observation of individual HLEs. With the knowledge obtained from this literature review, it is obvious that phonological awareness is the most influential aspect for developing emergent literacy. Furthermore, it is crucial that research continue to be conducted in regard to finding and implementing the most effective literacy programming, and providing sufficient support to those in need (Miles et al., 2022; Rice et al., 2022). This is how successful development of emergent literacy skills will be guaranteed for all children.

Conclusion

The ability to read and write is fundamental to daily life; therefore, the development of emergent literacy skills is essential. The HLE, classroom dynamic, and interventions and programming are crucial factors in developing emergent literacy skills. Research has proven the positive effect that the HLE can have on emergent literacy skills, because it provides continuation from school to home, and further nurtures those much-needed abilities. Classroom dynamic (i.e., class size, TA support, and TA training) has a direct correlation with a teacher's ability to provide quality literacy support, including specific programming or interventions. Strong programs that contain a heavy phonics component are the most effective for improving and mastering emergent literacy skills. Phonological awareness provides children with the ability to recognize and manipulate sounds, syllables and words, which are essential aspects of reading and writing. Overall, the development of emergent literacy skills is of the utmost importance, and is directly influenced by the HLE, classroom dynamic, and interventions and programming provided.

References

- Bennett, S., Gallagher, T., Somma, M., & White, R. (2021). Transitioning towards inclusion: a triangulated view of the role of educational assistants. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *21*(3), 187-197. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12508
- Burris, P. W., Phillips, B. M., & Lonigan, C. J. (2019). Examining the relations of the home literacy environments of families of low-SES with children's early literacy skills. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk, 24*(2), 154-173. https://doi.org/10.1080/10824669.2019.1602473
- Fikrat-Wevers, S., van Steensel, R., & Arends, L. (2021). Effects of family literacy programs on the emergent literacy skills of children from low-SES families: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, *91*(4), 577-613. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654321998075
- Francis, J., & Barnett, W. S. (2019). Relating preschool class size to classroom quality and student achievement. *Journal of Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 49*, 49-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2019.05.002
- Frankel, K., Becker, B. L. C., Rowe, M. W., & Pearson, P. D. (2016). From "What is reading?" to "What is literacy?" *Journal of Education, 196*(3), 7-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/002205741619600303
- Government of Manitoba. (2012-2022). *High school graduation rates and student achievement statistics* [Unpublished raw data]. Retrieved November 21, 2023, from https://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/grad_rates/grade3.html#top
- Hadley, E. B., Liu, S., Kim, E., & McKenna, M. (2023). State-funded pre-k and children's language and literacy development: The case of COVID-19. *Educational Researcher*, 52(7), 434-443. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X231179111
- Henríquez, A. (2005). The evolution of an adolescent literacy program: A foundation's journey. *Reading Research Quarterly, 40*(3), 376-380. https://doi.org/10.1598/RRQ.40.3.7
- Inoue, T., Georgiou, G. K., Parrila, R., & Kirby, J. R. (2018). Examining an extended home literacy model: the mediating roles of emergent literacy skills and reading fluency. *Journal of Scientific Studies of Reading*, 22(4), 273-288. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888438.2018.1435663
- Laitsch, D., Nguyen, H., & Younghusband, C. H. (2021). Class size and teacher work: research provided to the BCTF in their struggle to negotiate teacher working conditions. *Canadian Journal of Educational Administration and Policy, 196*, 83-101. https://doi.org/10.7202/1078519ar

Miles, K. P., McFadden, K. E., Colenbrander, D., & Ehri, L. C. (2022). Maximizing access to reading intervention: comparing small group and one-to-one protocols of reading rescue. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 45(3), 299-323. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9817.12383

- Piasta, S. B., Logan, J. A. R., Thomas, L. J. G., Zettler-Greeley, C. M., Bailet, L. L., & Lewis, K. (2021). Implementation of a small-group emergent literacy intervention by preschool teachers and community aides. *Journal of Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 54,* 31-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2020.08.002
- Puranik, C. S., Lonigan, C. J., & Kim, Y. -S. (2011). Contributions of emergent literacy skills to name writing, letter writing, and spelling in preschool children. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 26*(4), 465-474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2011.03.002
- Rice, M., Erbelli, F., Thompson, C. G., Sallese, M. R., & Fogarty, M. (2022). Phonemic awareness: a meta-analysis for planning effective instruction. *Journal of Reading Research Quarterly*, *57*(4), 1259-1289. https://doi.org/10.1002/rrg.473
- Sénéchal, M., & LeFevre, J. (2014). Continuity and change in the home literacy environment as predictors of growth in vocabulary and reading. *Journal of Child Development, 85*(4), 1552-1568. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12222
- Siegel, L. S. (2020). Early identification and intervention to prevent reading failure: A response to intervention (RTI) initiative. *The Educational and Developmental Psychologist*, *37*(2), 140-146. https://doi.org/10.1017/edp.2020.21
- Slavin, R. E., Lake, C., Davis, S., & Madden, N. A. (2010). Effective programs for struggling readers: a best evidence synthesis. *Journal of Educational Research Review, 6*, 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2010.07.002
- Smith, J. J. (2011). Advocacy for the efficacy and reinstatement of funding federal Even Start Family Literacy grant programs. Current Issues in Education, 14(2), 1-15. https://cie.asu.edu/ojs/index.php/cieatasu/article/view/778
- Webster, R., Blatchford, P., & Russell, A. (2013). Challenging and changing how schools use teaching assistants: findings from the Effective Deployment of Teaching Assistants project. *Journal of School Leadership & Management*, 33(1), 78-96. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2012.724672

About the Author

Randi Hunkin is an M.Ed. student in the inclusive education stream at Brandon University. She teaches kindergarten-grade 3 at Monarch Colony School. Randi is passionate about teaching and is always looking for more opportunities to learn and expand her skill set. She enjoys reading, art, and being outdoors.

Examining the Negative Impacts of Social Media on Adolescents: A Literature Review

Teri-Lynn EllisCorrie C. KrahnCharlene LeslieNicole McGlenenBarbara J. Pettapie

Abstract

This article examines the negative effects social media has on adolescents' health and wellbeing, and how it impacts their academic life. Research was conducted by using scholarly search engines to locate several articles that examined the effects of social media use on adolescents within the last ten years. After reviewing the articles, five main themes emerged: social media's impact on (1) social-emotional health, (2) mental health, (3) physical health, (4) academic performance, and (5) the effect of social media use during the COVID-19 pandemic. The findings from the literature review show the adverse effects of social media on adolescent social-emotional, mental, and physical health, and student academic performance. This review of the literature concludes by observing that adolescents are struggling with problematic social media use and need to learn responsible self-regulation tools and strategies. Future research should consider how to effectively protect and limit students from having to experience these adverse effects, while promoting a healthy and responsible balance of life online and in-person.

Social media has become a prevalent and vital aspect of our daily lives. Statistics Canada (2021) reported that 9 out of 10 Canadians aged 15 to 34 used social media regularly to share and create material, display online profiles, and communicate with others. Although social media has proven to be an effective learning and communicative tool (Talaue et al., 2018), most social media use has had a negative impact on the overall health and well-being of adolescents (Abi-Jaoude et al., 2020; Gupta et al., 2022; O'Reilly et al., 2018; Pellegrino et al., 2022). In support of that argument, this article's authors reviewed a range of research in the last ten years regarding social media use, and they found a correlation between problematic use and negative social-emotional, mental, and physical health effects impacting student learning and achievement. From those findings, the authors identified and investigated five key areas: social-emotional health, mental health, physical health, academic performance, and the rise in social media use during COVID and its increasing negative impact on all of these areas. This review of the literature is organized thematically into sections, providing evidence and analysis for each of the five key areas. Each section provides suggestions and strategies to address the concerns and issues identified. The article concludes with a summary of the overall findings.

Impact on Adolescent Social-Emotional Health and Well-being

One way social media is impacting adolescent social-emotional health and well-being is by creating pressure for adolescents to have a constant online presence. According to Popat and Tarrant (2023), adolescents describe online interactions as a vital role in their daily lives and there is a sense of pressure to stay connected and engaged online despite the difficulty of meeting these unrealistic expectations. This pressure to stay connected online can cause an individual to feel social-emotional distress. Students believe they are at risk of social exclusion from their peers if they are not up to date with social media news and information. As adolescents struggle to cope with the pressure, they experience negative impacts on their face-to-face interactions and overall social-emotional well-being (O'Reilly et al., 2018).

Adolescents who spend more time on social media have an increased likelihood of experiencing a fear of missing out (FOMO), which can lead to additional social-emotional distress. When people view edited posts, they compare their own accomplishments, appearance, and aptitudes to the false realities of others (Gupta et al., 2022). Social media platforms have made it easy for people to use editing filters, which can cause confusion for the viewer as to what is real or fake. When there is a discrepancy between one's own experiences and the perceived positive experiences of others, adolescents start to internalize their feelings of FOMO. When FOMO occurs, self-esteem decreases and the feelings of depression and anxiety become heightened (Barry et al., 2017). Adolescents have a strong desire to feel included and accepted, which can create feelings of anxiety, believing they should also be having similar positive experiences. Adolescents are experiencing FOMO through self-comparisons of others' posts and not receiving positive feedback on their own posts. This increases their state of depression or anxiety, leaving a lasting impact on adolescent social-emotional health.

Additionally, social media platforms place adolescents in situations that make them vulnerable to peer rejection in an unsupervised domain. Adolescents desire the rewards provided by social media, such as making new friends and receiving affirmation for their posts and online content (Boer et al., 2021). The interactive nature of these platforms allows adolescents to comment on or "like" each other's posts, which can lead to critique and criticism of an individual's appearance, thoughts, and beliefs. When students receive insufficient validation from their peers, they tend to experience stress or lowered self-confidence (Hawes et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2020). Adolescents who experience rejection online are not only hurt by the individual making the comment, but by all others who witness and engage in the post. Spending more time online increases not only peer interactions, but also the opportunities for adolescents to experience exclusion by their peers.

Another form of rejection impacting student social-emotional health online is cyberbullying. Exposure to cyberbullying on social media directly impacts victims' and bystanders' emotional health, often triggering emotional distress and other detrimental effects. According to Whittaker and Kowalski's (2014) study, 22% of participants had been a victim of cyberbullying and over half of the participants had been a witness to cyberbullying. Young people have the right to be safe, even in the virtual world. Cyberbullying is a prevalent problem and additional safety precautions are required. Exposure to cyberbullying is known to have a corresponding link to emotional and psychological distress such as, anxiety, suicidal ideation, self-esteem, lack of control, social exclusion, threats to belonging, loneliness and isolation (Popat & Tarrant, 2023; Sampasa-Kanyinga & Hamilton, 2015). These intense emotional encounters caused by cyberbullying can have a lasting impression on one's emotional well-being.

Social media provides unlimited access and exposure to harmful content that is often intriguing to adolescents, encouraging risky behaviours. Young people's exposure to content that depicts dangerous behaviour, such as drinking or drugs in a glorified way, increases their interest in exploring those behaviours (Gupta et al., 2022). Adolescents are naturally curious and when they view Tik Tok or Instagram videos that show peers taking part in activities that are not safe, they often want to replicate the video without considering the risks involved. The attention they receive appears to have a greater influence on their decision to participate rather than the risks and consequences, even if it could lead to physical injury, overdose, or death.

Participating in risky behaviours not only impacts adolescent social-emotional health, but it also creates many mental health challenges. Recognizing the impact of social media on adolescents is important for teachers to understand as students are bringing their developing emotional selves to school every day. Teachers are witness to how adolescents present themselves in class without knowledge of the underlying emotional factors that hinder their learning. It is important for teachers to identify these behaviours and strive to understand the emotional distress in adolescents. School divisions should provide professional development for

staff to help them identify when young people are in crisis (Odgers et al., 2020), and engage and inform parents about cyberbullying and other online safety concerns (Fredrick et al., 2022).

Impact on Adolescent Mental Health and Well-being

In addition to social-emotional concerns, excessive social media use can lead to serious mental health challenges such as addictions. Bhargava and Velasquez (2020) found that internet addiction is a significant public health issue, and social media companies often structure their platforms in a manner that fosters addictions by prioritizing engagement over the wellbeing of their users. Adolescents have become accustomed to scrolling through posts, images, and videos, which leads to decreased attention and focus on the physical or real world around them. Once adolescents feel dissociated from reality, their stress and anxiety levels go up and concentration levels go down. According to Keles et al. (2023), an addiction to social media can cause distractions, which can adversely affect student productivity and learning. The cause of the addiction needs to be addressed in order to ensure that academic learning can occur. Mental health challenges associated with problematic use indicate the need for further education around self-regulation and responsible use. McNaughton et al. (2022) emphasized the role of parents in supporting their child's self-regulation and digital skills at home. When parents are actively engaged in their child's life, including social media use, it can help to ensure the child is having a safe and more positive online experience. The role of parents is important because they act as a guide in helping the children to develop their own self-regulation skills and learn how to critically process and navigate their way through controversial and negative online content.

Furthermore, excessive social media use can increase exposure to body image comparisons that lead to other mental health issues such as eating disorders. Adolescents are often exposed to online content associated with body image idealization and disordered eating patterns (Choukas-Bradley et al., 2023). When adolescents are frequently exposed to unrealistic body images, they tend to engage in body comparisons that lead to lower feelings of self-worth and self-esteem. The desire to reach certain appearance standards could also lead to unhealthy eating behaviours, or even self-harm or suicidal ideation.

Self-harm and suicidal ideation are two major mental health concerns associated with problematic social media use. As explained by Gupta et al. (2022), when adolescents are exposed to social media content depicting dangerous behaviour such as self-harm and suicide, the probability of participating in such behaviour may increase. Most adolescents' social media use is not monitored by adults; therefore, disturbing online content that encourages self-harm and suicidal ideation is easily accessible. This content often attempts to normalize self-harm and suicide, potentially leading adolescents to replicate the actions that they are exposed to (Srivastava et al., 2019). There is an urgent need for continued education and preventative measures to be put in place to reduce the risks and protect adolescent mental health. Without these safety measures, not only will their mental health be impacted, but also their physical health.

Impact on Adolescent Physical Health and Well-being

Problematic social media use is having a significant impact on adolescent physical health and well-being. According to Pellegrino et al. (2022), people who use social media in a problematic manner are more likely to be associated with unhealthy lifestyle practices, such as lack of exercise or trouble managing daily tasks. Although it is important for students to manage daily tasks and exercise regularly, social media has become an additional barrier adolescents must overcome. Adolescents need to manage their daily exercise and academic responsibilities in order to be effective students and maintain a physically healthy lifestyle. Lack of exercise and inability to manage daily tasks is causing physical pain and discomfort in adolescents' bodies (Nilsen et al., 2023).

In addition, the problematic social media use that is limiting adolescents' physical activity is resulting in physical ailments. Nilsen et al. (2023) found that physical complaints such as headaches, eye pain, back pain, nausea and abnormal heart rates are linked to exposure with higher screen time and social media use. There is thus a direct correlation between time spent on social media and its impact on one's physical health and well-being. Although social media may have the power to motivate and improve physical health, more often than not the research shows it has a negative effect.

Problematic use of social media also has a significant impact on adolescent students' physical and social interactions with their peers. Adorjan and Ricciardelli (2021) documented evidence from teenagers describing scenarios wherein friends are solely on their own devices during their time together. With this behaviour becoming widely common and seemingly accepted, there is a risk that this type of social interaction is replacing what was once an opportunity for friends to get together to play a game or enjoy a more movement-based outdoor activity. Problematic social media use will continue to compromise young people's physical activity levels and peer interactions unless adolescents can learn to be more responsible with their social media use and find a blended model of social engagement.

As constant online communication with peers becomes more acceptable, this problematic pattern is also impacting their physical health at night. Unrestricted social media use at night is disrupting students' sleep cycles and causing sleep deprivation, which affects their physical health and ability to function at school. Paiva et al. (2015) found a link between sleep deficiency and headaches, fatigue, body pains, and emotional irregularity. This connection shows the importance of sleep and how it may affect students' physical bodies, emotional regulation, memory, and cognitive function. Students need consistent sleep for their minds and bodies to work to the best of their ability. Scanning through apps and artificial lights on devices cause an increase in cognitive arousal that can make it hard to fall asleep, often leading to shorter sleep durations (Popat & Tarrant, 2023; Sampasa-Kanyinga et al., 2017). With this awareness, students must consider taking a proactive approach to protect sleep routines by motivating each other to disengage with technology prior to and during designated sleep periods. The following examples are ways to regulate nighttime use of social media: purposefully have your phone on night settings where you will not receive notifications, refrain from using the phone once you have started your bedtime routine, and strategically placing your phone in a location away from your bedside. Because quality of sleep impacts one's physical health and academic performance, responsible practices must be established to support adequate sleep and limit nighttime social media use.

Impact on Student Academic Performance

The amount of time spent on social media platforms can distract adolescents from concentrating on their studies and interfere with their ability to manage their time, impacting their academic performance. Students' inability to manage time impacts learning because it disrupts their cognitive processes. As discussed by Talaue et al. (2018), lack of time management skills can determine the success or failure of an individual student's academic success. Students with poor time management skills spend insufficient time on their studies and miss deadlines. They also engage in procrastination, which can increase their stress levels. In order to achieve academic success, students need to complete assignments and meet respected deadlines.

Social media use not only negatively influences students' time management skills, but it can also contribute to impaired memory, concentration, and focus. Talaue et al. (2018) found that when students are on their devices, they do not have the capacity to retain information. When students are on their phones, they are unable to properly process the teacher's instructions and are often more interested in communicating with friends, playing games,

scrolling through pictures, and watching videos. This off-task behaviour is making teaching and learning difficult, because multitasking is an ineffective way to take in relevant information. Problematic social media use is impacting student time management skills and cognitive abilities. It is important for schools, parents, teachers, and students to find solutions that address these concerns through policies on social media use in schools (Muls et al., 2020), developing self-regulation skills (McNaughton et al., 2022), and providing education on appropriate in-person cell phone etiquette (Azad, 2013). These interventions will promote positive digital citizenship and educate students about maintaining a responsible digital footprint.

Impact on Adolescent Health During COVID-19

In order to prevent further spread of the COVID-19 virus, the government shifted all personal and work-related communications online. This shift significantly increased students' social media use, which triggered social-emotional, mental, and physical health concerns. During this time, device usage skyrocketed because students were instructed to attend school online, to stay home, and to socially communicate behind a screen (Shutzman & Gershey, 2022). The increase in device usage was inevitable as it became the primary way for students to communicate with peers and to participate in school academics and activities. In this process, some lost the benefits of an active and social lifestyle that included interpersonal relations, physical movements and exercise, and engagement with their bodies and minds in a classroom setting. The lack of face-to-face connection continues to have lasting negative effects. Hill et al. (2016) concluded that school aged children should spend no more than two hours a day on social media, in order to prevent the possible risk of reality impairment and inaccurate self-judgement. Although students are no longer forced to communicate digitally, they have chosen to continue to use social media as their preferred method of connection, and it is negatively impacting their mental health.

Student stress, anxiety, and depression increased as social media use became more widespread during COVID-19. Drazenovic et al. (2023) reported that students' anxiety, stress and depression increased as a result of excessive social media use. During COVID-19, adolescents' communication and connection was almost entirely through social media and this shift simultaneously increased their stress, anxiety, and depression levels. The surge in social media usage led to greater exposure to content affecting individuals' self-esteem, and also contributed to an increase in sleep deprivation (Woods & Scott, 2016). The mental health concerns and effects will continue to negatively impact adolescents if they cannot regain a healthy online and in-person life balance and develop adequate self-regulation skills.

The increased social media use during the COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated the adverse effects on adolescent health and academic learning. This effect supports the argument that social media use has significant negative impacts on student learning and on adolescent health and well-being.

Conclusion

Although social media has become a necessary aspect of adolescent life, problematic use is having an adverse effect on their overall health and well-being. Based on a review of the literature, this article examines the detrimental impact that problematic social media use is having on students' physical, social-emotional, and mental health, and on their academic performance. Increased social media use leads to many social-emotional concerns, such as pressure to stay online, peer rejection, fear of missing out (FOMO), cyberbullying, and other risky behaviours. Irresponsible social media use is connected with mental health issues such as addiction, stress, anxiety, depression, self-harm, and suicidal ideation. The physical impacts of social media include lack of exercise, the inability to manage daily tasks, physical ailments, reduced physical activity levels, and increased sleep deprivation. In addition to these concerns,

BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education, Volume 16, Issue 3, 2024

students are showing more signs of procrastination, poor time management, impaired memory, inability to focus and lack of concentration, which are impacting academic performance. The COVID-19 pandemic increased social media use by shifting society from a blended human communication model to an entirely virtual one. Most of the research reviewed considered the immediate impact of social media use (e.g., social isolation, depressive symptoms, cyberbullying, and increased exposure to harm). Therefore, more research needs to be conducted to determine the long-term effects that social media use has on students. Future considerations must be placed on programming and intervention strategies to facilitate responsible social media use, both inside and outside school.

References

- Abi-Jaoude, E., Treurnicht Naylor, K., & Pignatielle, A. (2020). Smartphones, social media use and youth mental health. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 192(6), 136-141. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.190434
- Adorjan, M., & Ricciardelli, R. (2021). Smartphone and social media addiction: Exploring the perceptions and experiences of Canadian teenagers. *The Canadian Review of Sociology, 58*(1), 45-64. https://doi.org/10.1111/cars.12319
- Azad, A. (2013). Etiquette, e-etiquette and cell phone use in the classroom. *Issues in Information Systems, 14*(2) 452-462. https://doi.org/10.48009/2_iis_2013_452-462
- Barry, C. T., Sidoti, C. L., Briggs, S. M., Reiter, S. R., & Lindsey, R. A. (2017). Adolescent social media use and mental health from adolescent and parent perspectives. *Journal of Adolescence*, 61(1), 1-11. https://doiarr.badia.com/doi/10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.00.005
- org.berlioz.brandonu.ca/10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.08.005 Bhargava, V., & Velasquez, M. (2020). Ethics of the attention economy: The problem of social
- media addiction. *Business Ethics Quarterly, 31*(3), 321-359. https://doi.org/10.1017/beq.2020.32
- Boer, M., Stevens, G. W. J. M., Finkenauer, C., de Looze, M. E., & van den Eijnden, R. J. J. M. (2021). Social media use intensity, social media use problems, and mental health among adolescents: Investigating directionality and mediating processes. *Computers in Human Behaviour, 116*(3), 106645. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106645
- Choukas-Bradley, S., Kilic, Z., Stout, C. D., & Roberts, S. R. (2023). Perfect storms and doubleedged swords: Recent advances in research on adolescent social media use and mental health. *Advances in Psychiatry and Behaviour Health, 3*(1), 149-157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypsc.2023.03.007
- Drazenovic, M., Rukavina, T. V., & Poplasen, L. M. (2023). Impact of social media use on mental health within adolescent and student populations during COVID-19 pandemic: Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 20*(1), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20043392
- Fredrick, S. S., Coyle, S., & King, J. (2022). Middle and high school teachers' perceptions of cyberbullying prevention and digital citizenship. *Psychology in the Schools*, 60(6), 1958-1978. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22844
- Gupta, C., Jogdand, S., & Kumar, M. (2022). Reviewing the impact of social media on the mental health of adolescents and young adults. *Cureus, 14*(10), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.30143
- Hawes, T., Zimer-Gembeck, M. J., & Campbell, S. (2020). Unique associations of social media use and online appearance preoccupation with depression, anxiety, and appearance rejection sensitivity. *Body Image, 33*, 66-76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2020.02.010
- Hill, D., Ameenuddin, N., Chassiakos, Y. R., Cross, C., Hutchinson, J., Levine, A., Boyd, R., Mendlelson, R., Moreno, M., & Swanson, W. S. (2016). Media and young minds. *Pediatrics*, 138(5), e20162592. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-2591
- Keles, B., Grealish, A., & Leamy, M. (2023). The beauty and the beast of social media:

- an interpretative phenomenological analysis of the impact of adolescents' social media experiences on their mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Current Psychology*, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-023-04271-3
- Lee, H. Y., Jamieson, J. P., Reis, H. T., Beevers, C. G., Josephs, R. A., Mullarkey, M. C., O'Brien, J. M., & Yeager, D. S. (2020). Getting fewer likes than others on social media elicits emotional distress among victimized adolescents. *Child Development*, *91*(6), 2141-2159. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13422
- McNaughton, S., Zhu, T., Rosedale, N., Jesson R., Oldehaver, J., & Williamson R. (2022). In school and out of school digital use and the development of children's self-regulation and social skills. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *91*(1), 236-257. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12447
- Muls, J., Thomas, V., De Backer, F., Zhu, C., & Lombaerts, K. (2020). Identifying the nature of social media policies in high schools. *Education and Information Technologies*, 25(1), 281-305. https://doi-org.berlioz.brandonu.ca/10.1007/s10639-019-09971-7
- Nilsen, S. A., Stormark, K. M., Heradstveit, O., & Breivik, K. E. (2023). Trends in physical health complaints among adolescents from 2014 2019: Considering screen time, social media use, and physical activity. *Population Health*, *2*2, 101394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2023.101394
- Odgers, C. & Jensen, M. (2020). Annual research review: Adolescent mental health in the digital age: facts, fears, and future directions. *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 61(3), 336-348. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13190
- O'Reilly, M., Dogra, N., Whiteman, N., Hughes, J., Eruyar, S., & Reilly, P. (2018). Is social
- media bad for mental health and wellbeing? Exploring the perspectives of adolescents. *Clinical Child Psychology, 23*(4), 601-613.

https://doiorg.berlioz.brandonu.ca/10.1177/1359104518775154

- Paiva, T., Gaspar, T., & Matos, G. M. (2015). Sleep deprivation in adolescents: Correlations with health complaints and health-related quality of life. *Sleep Medicine*, *16*(4), 521-527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2014.10.010
- Pellegrino A., Stasi A., & Bhatiasevi V. (2022). Research trends in social media addiction and problematic social media use: A bibliometric analysis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry, 13*(1), 1017506. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1017506
- Popat, A., & Tarrant, C. (2023). Exploring adolescents' perspectives on social media and mental health and well-being A qualitative literature review. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 28*(1), 323-337. https://doi.org/10.1177/13591045221092884
- Sampasa-Kanyinga, H., & Hamilton, H. A. (2015). Social networking sites and mental health problems in adolescents: The mediating role of cyberbullying victimization. *European Psychiatry, 30*(8), 1021-1027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.09.011
- Sampasa-Kanyinga, H., Hamilton, H. A., & Chaput, J. (2017). Use of social media is associated with short sleep duration in a dose–response manner in students aged 11 to 20 years. *Acta Paediatrica, 107*(4), 694-700. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.14210
- Shutzman, B., & Gershy, N. (2022). Children's excessive digital media use, mental health problems and the protective role of parents during COVID-19. *Computers in Human Behaviour, 1*(139), 107759-107770. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2022.107559
- Srivastava, K., Chaudhury, S., Prakash, J., & Dhamija, S. (2019). Social media and mental health challenges. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal, 28*(2), 155-159. https://doi.org/10.4103/ipj.ipj 154 20
- Statistics Canada. (2021). Canadians' assessments of social media in their lives. *Economic and Social Reports*, 1(3), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.25318/36280001202100300004-eng
- Talaue, G. M., AlSaad, A., AlRushaidan, N., AlHugail, A., & AlFahhad, S. (2018). The impact of social media on academic performance of selected college students. *International Journal* of Advanced Information Technology, 8(4/5), 27-35. https://doi.org/10.5121/ijait.2018.8503

- Whittaker, E., & Kowalski, R. M. (2014). Cyberbullying via social media. *Journal of school violence, 14*(1), 11-29. https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2014.949377
- Woods, H. C., & Scott, H. (2016). #Sleepyteens: Social media use in adolescence is associated with poor sleep quality, anxiety, depression and low self-esteem. *Journal of Adolescence*, *51*, 41-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.05.008

About the Authors

Teri-Lynn Ellis is a Master of Education student at Brandon University specializing in guidance and counselling. She is a Student Services Support Teacher in Winnipeg, Manitoba, and has been an educator for 20 years. Teri-Lynn enjoys spending time with family, traveling to new places.

Corrie Krahn is a high school physical educator with 14 years of experience in Winnipeg, Manitoba. She graduated with her Bachelor of Arts (BA), Bachelor of Education (BEd), and Post-Baccalaureate Diploma in Education (PBDE) in inclusive education from the University of Winnipeg. She is currently pursuing a Master of Education (MEd) in educational administration at Brandon University.

Charlene Leslie is a high school resource teacher in Killarney, Manitoba. She taught senior years mathematics in Portage, Winnipeg, and Killarney, accumulating over 20 years of experience. She is in the Master of Education program in inclusive education at Brandon University. Charlene enjoys spending time with family and friends, especially at the lake.

Nicole McGlenen is a middle school social studies and science teacher in Winnipeg, Manitoba. Nicole graduated from the University of Manitoba with a Bachelor of Kinesiology (BKin). She then pursued her Bachelor of Education (BEd) at UBCO in Kelowna, BC. Currently, Nicole is working towards her Master of Education (MEd) in inclusive education.

Barbara Pettapie is a high school resource teacher/guidance counsellor in Winnipeg, Manitoba. She holds a bachelor's degree (BEd), and a post-baccalaureate diploma (PBDE) in inclusive education from the University of Manitoba. Barb is currently pursuing a master's degree (MEd) specializing in guidance and counselling from Brandon University.

FOCUS ON FACULTY

Understanding Students' Motivational Beliefs and Academic Engagement: A Case Study of an African International Student

Aloysius C. Anyichie

Abstract

Motivational beliefs, especially self-efficacy, are very important in understanding students' academic engagement and achievement. Students' self-efficacy influences their academic decisions, choices, and learning behaviours. Building on a case of an African international student identified as Frank, this case study illustrates the influence of socio-cultural contexts on students' development of motivational beliefs, such as self-efficacy, across the school years. Specifically, it considers how Frank's social expectations, goals, cultural norms, school structure, and experience of teacher support shaped his motivational beliefs and influenced his academic engagement. The article emphasizes the need to understand how students' motivational beliefs and academic engagement are situated in context. Implications for theory, practice, and research are discussed.

Motivational beliefs, or individuals' perceptions that drive their actions, are very important in understanding one's drive to achieving a set goal. Self-efficacy, as a motivational belief proposed by Bandura (1977), refers to individuals' beliefs about their capabilities to perform a task successfully. Motivational beliefs determine how students participate in learning tasks. Research has shown some developmental patterns in students' motivational beliefs across their school years, especially as they progressed from elementary to high school (K-12). For example, Eccles et al. (1998) and Liou et al. (2021) observed that student motivational beliefs, including self-efficacy, tend to decrease from elementary to secondary school. These variations in students' motivational beliefs, which influence their motivation and engagement, have been linked to their personal characteristics and socio-cultural contexts (Anyichie et al., 2023; Liou et al., 2021).

Much research, involving western-developed theories and students from the western countries with independent sense of self, have tried to explain motivation and its development through a psychological lens. However, less research has considered how those motivational theories are situated in non-western students' cultural contexts with interdependent sense of self (King & McInerney, 2014). Students from both western and non-western countries with individualistic and collectivist cultures populate our classes. Thus, more effort is needed in examining the role of socio-cultural contexts (e.g., the values, customs, religious beliefs, norms, social structures of a particular community), and individuals in multiple layers of contexts (e.g., individualistic and collectivist cultures) in the development of non-western students' motivational beliefs. This understanding is important in designing culturally appropriate instructional practices to better support all learners in today's multicultural classroom contexts where students are influenced by many cultural groups.

This case study aims to advance our understanding of the possible influences of students' cultural background, societal expectations and school structure on their motivational beliefs, and how those shape their academic decisions, choices, behaviours and learning engagement. Specifically, it appraises the learning engagement of a non-western international African student (i.e., Frank) in the light of motivational beliefs, especially self-efficacy. The author starts by describing motivational beliefs, especially self-efficacy and its sources, and engagement. Next, he situates the article in Frank's background. The article continues by tracing Frank's developmental trajectories of motivational beliefs and self-efficacy over the school years, how those were related to his engagement, and the potential influences of context in that

BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education, Volume 16, Issue 3, 2024

development. Finally, this reflective case study considers the implications of Frank's experiences for educational practice and future research.

Motivational Beliefs and Self-Efficacy: Influence on Engagement

Motivational beliefs describe a wide range of perceptions that fuel an individual's engagement in an event or behaviour. These beliefs, such as academic self-efficacy (Usher et al., 2023), goals (Ames, 1992; Huang, 2016), and task values (Harackiewicz, et al., 2016) are critical in learning. Motivational beliefs determine students' learning behaviours, including how much effort to invest in a learning activity, the kinds of choices to make, staying on task, and whether to persist in the face of challenge. One of the major motivational beliefs commonly studied in education is self-efficacy.

Self-efficacy describes students' judgements and beliefs about their capability to be successful or not in performing a learning task (Bandura, 1977). There are four major sources of influences on self-efficacy development: mastery experiences, vicarious experiences, social persuasion, and physiological states (Bandura, 1977). Mastery or past experience describes how students' interpretation of their past experience or performance influences their beliefs about their capability in successfully completing a task. For example, students who were successful at solving a quadratic equation in the past will most likely believe in their capability to succeed when faced with a similar equation. Likewise, students who were not successful in the past will less likely judge themselves to be capable of succeeding in the future. Vicarious experience illustrates how students' experience of others' performances shapes their judgement about their own capability in being successful in performing similar task. For example, students who observe a classmate's success in completing a high-quality essay writing might judge themselves capable of writing a good essay as well. On the other hand, if a student who is perceived as being intelligent struggles in completing a calculus assignment, other lower achieving students might consider themselves less capable of performing well in the same assignment. Social or verbal persuasion refers to the messages students receive that influence their judgement about what they are able to do or not. For instance, students who receive positive feedback from their teachers about their capability to be successful in completing a task are most likely to develop the belief that they will be successful in completing such tasks. Physiological or affective states refer to the feelings or thinking of students as they participate in a learning task. For example, students who experience an increased heart rate or anxiety in the face of a task might interpret the feeling as a sign of incapability of being successful in that task, different from someone who experiences calmness that might be interpreted as a sign of competence. All of these sources influence students' self-efficacy in the ways they impact students' judgements about what they can do or not (Usher et al., 2023).

There is evidence of variation in ways and degrees in which these sources influence students' self-efficacy. For example, mastery experiences have been shown to wield the strongest influence on students' self-efficacy development because they involve students' direct experience of successful completion of a task (Butz & Usher, 2015). Huang et al. (2020) found that a combination of sources have more powerful influence. However, students tend to interpret these sources in different ways based on their social norms and cultural identity (Usher & Weidner, 2018), as well as their socialization contexts (Gebauer et al., 2021). For instance, in their study, Gebauer et al, (2021) measured the four sources of self-efficacy among students in different socialization contexts. They found that while mastery experience had the strongest influence on students with non-immigrant backgrounds, social persuasion was strongest for immigrant students. This finding draws attention to understanding how immigrant students' perceptions and interpretations of these sources might be different from those of non-immigrant students, and thus shape their academic self-efficacy development.

Overall, students' self-efficacy influences their effort, choices, and achievement (Bandura & Schunk, 1981; Usher et al., 2023). When students believe they are capable of successfully

completing a task, they are motivated to engage in learning the task (Azila-Gbettor, 2021; Linnenbrink & Pintrich, 2003).

Engagement defines students' participation or involvement in a learning activity. It is a multidimensional construct with distinct but related dimensions, such as behavioural, cognitive, and emotional (Fredricks et al., 2019). In this article, the term *engagement* refers mainly to behavioural engagement that captures students' overt involvement in the classroom, including effort, persistence, help seeking, and concentration. Engagement is critical in learning because it predicts students' positive outcomes, including achievement (Fredricks et al., 2019), and is influenced by self-efficacy (Ouweneel et al., 2013). For example, a student with specific task-positive motivational beliefs in reading will be more disposed to focus attention and spend extra time in reading class materials. Similarly, a student with high self-efficacy in solving math problems will concentrate more and persist in completing math homework even when it becomes challenging. On the contrary, students with low self-efficacy easily give in to self-doubt and give up in the face of learning difficulty.

Who Is Frank?

Frank is a pseudonym for an international African student born in a family of educators. His parents and three siblings were teachers. One of his siblings was a high school math teacher. Growing up in a household that valued education, Frank was socialized into a culture that emphasizes learning as a viable tool for success in life. In his social context, there is often an expectation that children whose parents are teachers will excel academically, and probably become teachers themselves. As a collective society, his African culture emphasizes the value of collective responsibility in raising children, which is captured in the African proverb that "it takes a village to raise a child." It also highlights the importance of an extended family system, religion, hard work, and perseverance that inspire children to be resilient in the face of challenges. For example, his religious culture foregrounds the importance of praying during trial moments. One of the major goals of this article is to use Frank's case to highlight the powerful role of students' social and cultural contexts in their development of self-efficacy, which in turn influences their motivation to engage in learning activities.

Development of Motivational Beliefs Across the School Years

This section describes Frank's experiences in relation to the development of his motivational beliefs, and how those beliefs shaped his engagement across his school years. Occasionally, attention is drawn to how his social and cultural contexts could be responsible for his developmental trajectory, and to the implications for educators.

Elementary and Secondary School Education (Grades 1-12)

Frank started his elementary school education in his village. This community expected him to be intelligent and successful in academics, since his parents and some of his siblings were teachers. Presumably, responding to this social norm of a cultural and family belief system, his parents, who were both teachers, made sure that Frank and his siblings had a very structured program of studies at home. Frank received constant family support in completing school homework, especially in math which is his favourite subject. In the school, all of his teachers and peers would regularly call him "Nwa onye nkuzi," meaning "the son of the teacher," which re-echoes in him the societal expectations for great success. Although he loves school, these societal expectations (King et al., 2012), and family support (Gao et al., 2021; Simpkins et al., 2019), undoubtedly influenced the development of his high self-efficacy and learning engagement (Schunk & Pajares, 2009). Interestingly, building on this self-efficacy he exerted extra efforts toward his studies, constantly prayed for success, and experienced great success

BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education, Volume 16, Issue 3, 2024

in his elementary school. Frank's experience corroborates Wang and Degol's (2013) finding that multiple layers of context, including family, school, and larger society, influence the development of motivational beliefs. These beliefs are sustained when students feel supported (Wigfield et al., 2015). Frank's experience also aligns with the understanding of engagement and achievement as socially embedded in collectivist societies where people are motivated to be successful not only for personal interest but also for their family (Dekker & Fischer, 2008).

For his secondary school education (i.e., high school), Frank went to a top-rated missionary boarding school. This decision relates to his religious identity and affiliation. This institution, located in another town, has strict rules and regulations, emphasizing the role of prayer, morals and academics in human formation. Nevertheless, its emphasis on academic performance creates a competitive environment among top achieving students. Research has shown how a restricted environment (Eccles et al., 1993), social comparison and controlling classroom atmosphere (Eccles et al., 1984) are associated with a decline in students' motivational beliefs, especially from elementary to secondary school. In contrast, the competitive environment challenged and motivated Frank to pray and work harder to improve his learning and secure a better grade. For instance, based on his religious belief in the power of prayer in dealing with challenging situations, he made decisions to pray before studies and exams, and spent extra time in studies. Frank's case portrays how students can perceive a similar context differently (e.g., competitive environment), leading to different decisions. It also shows how students' religious beliefs might shape their motivational beliefs. Educators can better support students' development of self-efficacy beliefs if they understand how students' backgrounds influence their perception and interpretations of their learning contexts.

Frank has a specific domain interest in math. In his math class, praising students was an occasional occurrence in acknowledgement of an outstanding commitment to successfully solve math problems. This contextualized informative use of praise is associated with improvement of perceived self-efficacy (Ouweneel et al., 2013), and subsequent feedback seeking (Dimotakis et al., 2017). Receiving this positive feedback from his grade 8 math teacher (i.e., social persuasion) sustained and enhanced his self-efficacy belief, interest, motivation, and engagement in math (Butz & Usher, 2015; Ouweneel, et al., 2013; Peng, 2021). Later, the teacher, who happened to come from the same town as Frank, would always invite Frank to solve math problems on the board. He felt that this teacher not only believed in him but also had high expectations of him. To avoid letting his teacher down and maintain his self-concept as a "math kid," he developed a mastery orientation goal, that is, aiming to gain mastery and acquire new skills (Ames, 1992). Based on his mastery goal, he spent extra time working on math classes, and improved his math competence which sustained his self-efficacy. Consequently, the teacher encouraged his peers to seek support from him. Frank's mastery or past experience of successfully solving math problems, and his perceived teacher support and feedback (Rice et al., 2013), influenced his self-efficacy belief. Also, his perceived connection with the teacher (i.e., coming from the same town), teacher acknowledgment of his math capabilities which highlights the importance of teacher-student relationship (Liu, 2024), interest in math (Renninger & Hidi, 2020), and mastery goal (Huang, 2016) have contributed in a more complex way to his motivation and engagement (Harachiewicz et al., 2016), competence belief, and self-efficacy beliefs in math (Nuutila et al., 2020).

Although the teacher's feedback and high expectation motivated Frank, they demotivated a lot of his peers who felt disengaged. The peers' disengagement was associated with their perceived teacher's favouritism towards Frank, and lack of creating equitable opportunities for all students' learning (Anyichie, 2018, in press). Frank's interest and active engagement in solving math problems outside the classroom continued until grade 11. At this time, he had a math teacher whom he perceived to be less competent and with low expectation of the students, leading to his focusing on performance goal in math (i.e., emphasizing achievement to outperform others in order to maintain his math identity). He developed a negative feeling and thinking about solving math problems in this class (i.e., affective or physiological states). Thus,

he was demotivated and rarely worked on his math problems beyond class except during exam periods. However, due to his past experiences with math (i.e., mastery experience), he still believed in his capability to be successful during the exam. In grade 12, he had another math teacher who challenged the students with tasks within their zone of proximal development, that is, the "zone" between what they can do independently without help and what they cannot do without the help of more knowledgeable other, such as a teacher, peer or parent (Vygotsky, 1978). Frank's experiences with the grade 12 teacher increased his motivation to engage in solving math problems again after school. He ended up becoming one of the three best math students in his class during the final school certificate exams.

Frank's experience suggests how school context, inclusive of teachers' instructional practices and expectations, shape students' achievement goals that subsequently influence their motivational beliefs (e.g., self-efficacy) and engagement (Ames, 1992; Huang, 2016). It also confirms mastery or past experience as a stronger influence of self-efficacy in math (Butz & Usher, 2015). Additionally, it affirms how students' motivational beliefs, especially self-efficacy, engagement and achievement goals, are shaped by socio-cultural contexts. Some of these contextual factors are social goals of making one's family proud and meeting societal expectations (King et al., 2012), competitive school culture, and teacher classroom practices, including feedback (Dimotakis et al., 2017; Peng, 2021). Therefore, educators are invited to consider the impact of these factors in their classroom designs.

Students who feel supported by family, teachers, and friends have high motivational beliefs that impact the quality of their classroom engagement (Simpkins et al., 2020). For example, teachers can support students' awareness of their culturally shaped prior knowledge and academic experiences (e.g., through reflective assignments such as "know your self"), and build on those to design instructional practices that are personally meaningful to the students (Anyichie, in press; Anyichie et al., 2023). Educators can support students' motivational beliefs and learning engagement by helping them experience learning success by setting mastery goals (Huang, 2016), offering supports (Qiong et al., 2023; Rice et al., 2013; Wigfield et al., 2015), and holding high expectations of all students (Dekker & Fischer, 2008; Ladson-Billing, 2021).

Undergraduate Program

Frank started his undergraduate program at a Catholic missionary university in his home country. His past academic success through primary and secondary school reinforced his general self-efficacy beliefs while starting at this university. His professors, who were mainly trained overseas, emphasized critical thinking and hard work. However, Frank felt that there were too many courses and lectures with lesser personal connections between the professors and students, and too much emphasis on student grades and academic positions. As part of his extracurricular activities, Frank was assigned to the university clinic where he assisted the visiting doctors in attending to ill students. Occasionally, he missed lectures and study time due to the needs at the clinic. Over time, he experienced a decline in his academic achievement level. He started doubting his ability, which led to a decline in his self-efficacy and academic motivation (Kasimatis, et al., 1996; Schunk & Pajeres, 2009). However, since this university emphasizes the power of hard work and prayer, Frank did not give up on his studies. Instead, he spent some of the regularly scheduled morning meditation in the university to reflect on his learning experiences while praying for academic success.

Through constant meditations, Frank learned to focus more attention and increase his concentration level (e.g., by staying on task), and gained more learning insights and problemsolving strategies (e.g., by setting learning goals). Also, he became aware of how he had navigated similar challenges in middle school through teacher support and desire to meet social goals, including family expectations of success. His past experience (i.e., mastery experience) increased his self-efficacy to handle the current situation. This experience highlights how

BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education, Volume 16, Issue 3, 2024

educators can enhance students' self-efficacy by supporting their self-reflection and metacognitive awareness of how they successfully completed a challenging task or overcame a related difficulty situation in the past (Usher et al., 2023).

Moving forward, Frank interpreted his grades as a pointer to his current level of academic achievement, which is different from his ability and intelligence. He could tell that his prior academic motivation and success had been largely dependent on external factors (i.e., extrinsic motivation), including high expectations from family, friends, teachers and peers. The absence of some of these external motivators, together with the university academic structure (e.g., less connection with the professors, more emphasis on grade and academic positions), limited his opportunities to access help and affected his motivation and engagement. However, he internalized these extrinsic motivational factors, that is, autonomous extrinsic motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2020), by savouring the intrinsic satisfaction of meeting these expectations. Thus, Frank autonomously engaged in his learning processes by spending a good amount of time developing his learning strategies (e.g., exerting efforts and spending extra time in learning new ideas, reading self-development books), regulating his learning (e.g., monitoring his learning progress), and seeking help from professor and students (e.g., clarifying ideas about assignments). With time, he developed a stronger growth mindset, that is, belief in the malleability of ability and effort (Dweck, 1999; Dweck & Yeager, 2021) which motivated his learning engagement (Rhew et al., 2018) towards achieving success.

Again, Frank's experiences relate to research findings about the role of social goals such as making family proud (King et al., 2012) and teacher supports in navigating classroom challenges (Anyichie, 2018; Liu, 2024; Qiong et al., 2023), fostering motivation and engagement (Simpkins, et al., 2020), and growth mindset (Dweck, 1999; Rhew et al., 2018). It also relates to how self-efficacy and autonomous motivation enhance engagement (Azila-Gbettor et al., 2021; Ryan & Deci, 2020). His internalization of socially oriented goals (e.g., making the family proud) supports Vygotsky (1978)'s view of the social origin of psychological processes, including the regulation of learning.

Educators can support students' motivational beliefs (e.g., self-efficacy), and academic engagement through fostering students' self-regulation skills by involving them in setting realistic goals, controlling the level of their academic challenge, and self-assessing and monitoring their learning (Panadero et al., 2017; Saks, 2024). Students could be assisted to develop a growth mindset by emphasizing the effort required to achieve success (Dweck, 1999; Dweck & Yeager, 2021; Rhew et al., 2018). Additionally, students' self-efficacy could be enhanced by developing a good relationship with them (Liu, 2024) through spending time with them to know more about their lives outside of school, providing opportunities for success through designing challenging activities that still allows students to experience success (Linnenbrink & Pintrich, 2003), and helping them see their academic progress (Usher et al., 2023).

Therefore, attention should be paid to how students' socio-cultural contexts (i.e., external environments), including culture, religious beliefs, values, social norms and expectations, might be shaping their motivational belief system and learning engagement. As seen in Frank's case, his societal and family expectations (e.g., to be intelligent because of being a child of educators, making the family proud), religious beliefs (e.g., the power of prayer in facing challenges, achieving success) all came together in informing his judgement about his capability and motivation in achieving success even in challenging situations.

Graduate and Postgraduate Programs

After his undergraduate program, Frank completed two different graduate programs at a public university in his home country. At this time, he developed a strong interest in pursuing a Ph.D. program, which was primarily born out of his aspiration to become a university professor. His desire for an academic career is connected to his being raised in a family of educators.

However, during his graduate programs, he encountered many locally trained professors whom he perceived as lacking commitment and competence (Anyichie, 2023), which contributed to his desire for international training. Thus, he applied for Ph.D. programs in different top universities in Europe and North America.

During his Ph.D. applications, he was faced with the hurdle of completing the General Record Examination (GRE) required by some North American universities. GRE assesses students' critical thinking, quantitative and verbal reasoning, and analytical writing skills. Peers who had taken the exam shared with Frank their difficulty passing it. Since this exam was congruent with his future identity, that is, becoming a professor, Frank interpreted the difficulty as important and necessary (Oyserman & Horowitz, 2023). Similarly, connecting the expectations of this exam to his prior knowledge of critical thinking in his undergraduate logic class, quantitative reasoning and interest in math during his high school, Frank developed high self-efficacy to do well in this exam. Building on his attribution of his past success to prayer and hard work, he studied and prayed hard to pass this examination. These decisions confirm how students' current and future identity (Oyserman & Horowitz, 2023), prior knowledge, and past experiences shape their self-efficacy and choices (Usher et al., 2023).

As a self-regulated learner, Frank exercised control over his thoughts (e.g., by convincing himself that he would be successful in the exam), emotions (e.g., by appreciating the positive feelings of past success), actions (e.g., by seeking the help of a math tutor), and learning behaviour (e.g., by spending extra hours reviewing GRE preparatory texts), in order to navigate the challenges of GRE, and he achieved his goal of studying abroad (Zimmerman, 2008). These motivational beliefs evident in his self-efficacy informed his engagement in self-regulatory behaviours of developing effective and adaptive strategies to pass the GRE examination, including hiring a tutor (Schunk & Pajeres, 2003).

Frank's experience in preparing for his Ph.D. application abroad confirms Bandura's (1977) hypothesis that higher self-efficacy entails choosing challenging activities, exerting more effort towards success, and persisting longer on difficult tasks. Frank's motivational beliefs also connected to his personal interest (e.g., math) and achievement goal (e.g., passing the exam, studying abroad). Thus, he devoted the time and energy judged sufficient to achieve his goal while believing that effort is unstable and controllable (Graham, & Williams, 2009). Frank's case aligns with research findings that highlight the context-dependent nature of motivation, engagement (Anyichie, et al., 2023; Nolen et al., 2015), and self-efficacy (Mitchell, et al., 2021; Usher et al., 2023), and how they cannot be fully understood outside the context wherein they occur. To illustrate, Anyichie (2018, in press) documented evidence of how students' perception of task values, including whether the learning activities were judged relevant, important, interesting, and enjoyable, explained the variations in their level of motivation and engagement across days. Students' development of motivational beliefs, such as self-efficacy, could be enhanced when educators support mastery goals in their classes (Huang, 2016), connect classroom learning activities to students' interests (Nuutila et al., 2020; Renniger & Hidi, 2020) and lived experiences, or assist them to make those connections themselves (Anyichie, 2018, in press; Anyichie et al., 2023).

Interestingly, Frank's efforts were rewarded with multiple admissions and scholarships to different universities. He attributed this performance outcome to his effort and prayers that strengthened his competence belief, self-efficacy, and motivation for higher success. As an international student, he opted for the university that offered him a full scholarship. While in the Ph.D. program, he received much positive feedback from his professors who had high expectations of him and expressed belief in his potential to be successful. For example, the supervisor supported his ambitious research interest and agenda while constantly communicating high confidence and belief in his capability to succeed. Frank's interactions with the supervisor, who created multiple opportunities for him to drive his research agenda (e.g., setting both long-term and short-term goals about completing his studies), increased his sense of ownership of his learning processes. The feedback from his professors (i.e., social

BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education, Volume 16, Issue 3, 2024

persuasions) positively impacted his self-efficacy (Usher et al., 2023). His perceived social support (Liu, 2024), high expectations of the professors (Ladson-Billings, 2021), and sense of autonomy (Ryan & Deci, 2020) motivated him to invest a lot of energy engaging in all of the learning opportunities that were available in his program (Liu, 2024; Simkins et al., 2020). It is noteworthy to remark that this case study was inspired by a class assignment during Frank's Ph.D. program, which asked students to appraise their motivational beliefs. Most of Frank's decisions while in his Ph.D. program were influenced by his identity and experiences as an African international student. His attribution of all his past success to effort and prayer, including meditations, led to the development of his academic motto "hard work and prayer equals to success" (H + P = S).

Finally, educators can support students' development and awareness of their motivational beliefs, which in turn increase their self-efficacy, motivation, and engagement by fostering constant reflection and monitoring of their learning experiences (Panadero et al., 2017), encouraging their goal setting (Saks, 2024), offering honest constructive feedback (Dimotakis et al., 2017; Hattie & Timperley, 2007), maintaining high expectations of all the students (Ladson-Billings, 2021), creating opportunities such as choice provision to support their autonomy (Ryan & Deci, 2020), and connecting class activities to students' backgrounds by using their daily life experiences as examples in the class teaching and/or encouraging them to make those connections by working on interesting tasks that are personally meaningful to their experiences and aspirations (Anyichie, 2018, in press; Anyichie et al., 2023).

Conclusions and Implications

Research has shown that students' motivational beliefs, including self-efficacy, predict their engagement and achievement (Liou et al., 2021). Less research has considered the impact of social and cultural contexts on students' development of motivational beliefs and engagement. This reflective article demonstrates how an African student's socio-cultural beliefs, values, and aspirations influenced his development of motivational beliefs, especially self-efficacy, and how those beliefs shaped his motivation and engagement in school. Frank's case study highlights how motivational beliefs are situated in context and can vary over the school years and across subject areas. The outcome of this article has some implications for theory, classroom practice, and research.

First, it adds to self-efficacy belief theory by drawing attention to how the socio-cultural contexts of non-western students might be influencing their development of motivational beliefs different from western students. Second, consistent with prior studies, it recommends that educators can support students' self-efficacy beliefs, motivation, and engagement by holding high expectations for all students, providing challenging tasks that are not beyond the students' ability, fostering students' self-reflection, enhancing their growth mindset, supporting their autonomy, building trusting relationships, offering honest constructive feedback, supporting students' specific academic domain interests, and making meaningful connections between classroom activities and students' lives. Third, it adds to the literature on self-efficacy by highlighting the dynamic interplay between Frank and multiple different layers of contexts, and the need for more cultural and in-situ approaches to understanding students' self-efficacy, motivation, and engagement. Therefore, educators must understand their students' background (e.g., their cultural and religious beliefs, societal norms and expectations, values and aspirations) and how those influence the students' motivational beliefs, in order to better provide multiple efficacy-supportive opportunities. Finally, future empirical research is needed to investigate how motivational beliefs of non-western students, especially of African descent, evolve over time during their school years. Longitudinal studies will be helpful in uncovering how different factors, including social and cultural expectations (e.g., society, family), school contexts (e.g., teacher practices, peers), and religious beliefs (e.g., the power of prayer in overcoming challenges and achieving success), influence students' motivational beliefs such as selfefficacy, and in turn shape students' motivation and engagement. Cross-cultural research will be beneficial in revealing what is universal and what is unique to specific cultures, individual differences, and contextual factors in the development of motivational beliefs.

It is hoped that this article will trigger more interests among educators and researchers to design learning environments and research based on the understanding that students' sociocultural contexts influence the development of their motivational beliefs (e.g., self-efficacy), in turn impacting their motivation and learning engagement.

References

- Ames, C. (1992). Classrooms: goals, structures, and student motivation. *Journal of Educational Psychology.* 84, 261-271. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.84.3.261
- Anyichie, A. C. (2018). Supporting all learners' engagement in a multicultural classroom using a culturally responsive self-regulated learning framework [Doctoral dissertation, The University of British Columbia]. The University of British Columbia Open Collections. https://doi.org/10.14288/1.0375773
- Anyichie, A. C. (2023). Education and human capacity in Nigeria: Challenges and prospects. In N. D. Onwuekwe (Ed.), *Building bridges of dialogue and peace* (pp. 497-512). Soladem Printers.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/378517891_Education_and_Human_Capacity_D evelopment_In_Nigeria_Challenges_and_Prospects

- Anyichie, A. C., & Butler, D. L. (2023a). Examining culturally diverse learners' motivation and engagement processes as situated in a context of a complex task. *Frontiers in Education*, 8:1041946. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2023.1041946
- Anyichie, A. C., & Butler, D. L. (2023b). A pedagogical approach to fostering culturally diverse learners' engagement in self-regulated learning. *British Journal of Teacher Education and Pedagogy, 2*(2), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.32996/bjtep.2023.2.2.1
- Anyichie, A. C., Butler, D. L., & Nashon, S. M. (2023a). Exploring teacher practices for enhancing student engagement in culturally diverse classrooms. *Journal of Pedagogical Research*, 7(5), 183-207. https://doi.org/10.33902/JPR.202322739
- Anyichie, A. C., Butler, D. L., Perry, N. E., & Nashon, S. M. (2023b). Examining classroom contexts in support of culturally diverse learners' engagement: An integration of selfregulated learning and culturally responsive pedagogical practices. *Frontline Learning Research*, *11*(1), 1-39. https://doi.org/10.14786/flr.v11i1.1115
- Anyichie, A. C., (in press). Self-regulated learning and culturally responsive pedagogy: An integrated approach to fostering all learner's engagement and motivation. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Azila-Gbettor, Mensah, C., Abiemo, M. K., & Bokor, M. (2021). Predicting student engagement from self-efficacy and autonomous motivation: A cross-sectional study. *Cogent Education*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2021.1942638
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review, 84*(2), 191-215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, & Schunk, D. H. (1981). Cultivating competence, self-efficacy, and intrinsic interest through proximal self-motivation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *41*(3), 586-598. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.41.3.586
- Butz, A. R., & Usher, E. L. (2015). Salient sources of early adolescents' self-efficacy in two domains. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 42, 49-61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2015.04.001
- Chan, J. C. Y., & Lam, S. (2008). Effects of competition on students' self-efficacy in vicarious learning. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *78*(1), 95-108. https://doi.org/10.1348/000709907X185509

- Dekker, S., & Fischer, R. (2008). Cultural differences in academic motivation goals: A metaanalysis Across 13 Societies. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *102*(2), 99-110. https://doi.org/10.3200/JOER.102.2.99-110
- Dimotakis, N., Mitchell D., & Maurer T. (2017). Positive and negative assessment center feedback in relation to development self-efficacy, feedback seeking, and promotion. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 102, 1514-1527. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000228
- Dweck, C. S. (1999). Self-theories: Their role in motivation, personality and development: Psychology Press.
- Dweck, C. S., & Yeager, D. S. (2021). A growth mindset about intelligence. In G. M. Walton & A. J. Crum (Eds.), Handbook of wise interventions: How social psychology can help people change (pp. 9-35). The Guilford Press.
- Eccles, J. S., Midgley, C., & Adler, T. F. (1984). Grade-related changes in the school environment: Effects on achievement motivation. *Advances in Motivation and Achievement*, 3, 283-331.
- Eccles, J. S., Midgley, C., Wigfield, A., Buchanan, C. M., Reuman, D., Flanagan, C., ...Mac Iver, D. (1993). Development during adolescence: The impact of stage-environment fit on younger adolescents' experiences in schools and in families. *American Psychologist*, 48(2), 90-101. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.48.2.90
- Eccles, J. S., Wigfield, A., & Schiefele, U. (1998). Motivation to succeed. In N. Eisenberg (Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 3. Social, emotional, and personalitydevelopment* (5th ed., pp. 1017-1095). Wiley.
- Fredricks, J. A., Reschly, A. L., & Christenson, S. L. (2019). Interventions for student engagement: Overview and state of the field. In J. A. Fredricks, A. L. Reschly, & S. L. Christenson (Eds.), *Handbook of student engagement interventions: Working with disengaged students* (pp. 1–11). Elsevier Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813413-9.00001-2
- Gao, H., Ou, Y., Zhang, Z., Ni, M., Zhou, X., & Liao, L. (2021). The relationship between family support and e-learning engagement in college students: The mediating role of e-learning normative consciousness and behaviors and self-efficacy. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 573779–573779. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.573779
- Gebauer, M. M., McElvany, N., Köller, O., & Schöber, C. (2021). Cross-cultural differences in academic self-efficacy and its sources across socialization contexts. *Social Psychology of Education*, *24*(6), 1407–1432. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-021-09658-3
- Graham,S. & Williams, C. (2009). In K.R Wentzel & A.Wigfield (Eds) Handbook of Motivation at School (pp. 11-33). Routledge.
- Hattie, J., & Timperley, H. (2007). The power of feedback. *Review of Educational Research*, 77(1), 81-112. https://doi.org/10.3102/003465430298487
- Harackiewicz, J. M., Smith, J. L., & Priniski, S. J. (2016). Interest matters: The importance of promoting interest in education. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *3*(2), 220-227. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732216655542
- Huang, C., (2016). Achievement goals and self-efficacy: A meta-analysis. *Educational Research Review*, *19*, 119-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2016.07.002
- Huang, X., Mayer, R. E., & Usher, E. L. (2020). Better together: Effects of four self-efficacybuilding strategies on online statistical learning. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 63, 101924-101924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101924
- Kasimatis, M., Miller, M., & Marcussen, L. (1996). The Effects of implicit theories on exercise motivation. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *516*(30), 510-516. https://doi.org/10.1006/jrpe.1996.0037
- King, R. B., & McInerney, D. M. (2014). Culture's consequences on student motivation: Capturing cross-cultural universality and variability through personal investment theory. *Educational Psychologist*, 49(3), 175-198. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2014.926813

- King, R. B., McInerney, D. M., & Watkins, D. A. (2012). Studying for the sake of others: The role of social goals on academic engagement. *Educational Psychology (Dorchester-on-Thames)*, 32(6), 749–776. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2012.730479
- Linnenbrink, E. A., & Pintrich, P, R. (2003). The role of self-efficacy beliefs in student engagement and learning in the classroom. *Reading and writing Quarterly, 19,* 119-137. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573560308223
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2021). I'm here for the hard re-set: Post pandemic pedagogy to preserve our culture. *Equity & Excellence in Education, 54*(1), 68-78. https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2020.1863883
- Lam, S., Yim, P.-S., Law, J. S. F., & Cheung, R. W. Y. (2004). The effects of competition on achievement motivation in Chinese classrooms. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *74*(2), 281-296. https://doi.org/10.1348/000709904773839888
- Liou, Wang, C.-L., Lin, J. J. H., & Areepattamannil, S. (2021). Assessing students' motivational beliefs about learning science across grade level and gender. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, *89*(4), 605-624. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220973.2020.1721413
- Liu, X. (2024). Effect of teacher–student relationship on academic engagement: The mediating roles of perceived social support and academic pressure. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *15*, 1331667. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1331667
- Mitchell, K. M. McMillan, D. E., Lobchuk, M. M., Nickel, N. C., Rabbani, R., & Li, J. (2021). Development and validation of the situated academic writing self-efficacy scale (SAWSES). Assessing Writing, 48, 100524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asw.2021.100524
- Nolen, S. B., Horn, I. S., & Ward, C. J. (2015). Situating motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, *50*(3), 234-247. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2015.1075399
- Nuutila, K., Tapola, A., Tuominen, H., Kupiainen, S., Pásztor, A., & Niemivirta, M. (2020). Reciprocal predictions between interest, self-efficacy, and performance during a task. *Frontiers in Education (Lausanne)*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2020.00036
- Ouweneel, E., Schaufeli, W. B., & Le Blanc, P. M. (2013). Believe, and you will achieve: Changes over time in self-efficacy, engagement, and performance. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, *5*(2), 225-247. https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12008
- Panadero, E., Jonsson, A., & Botella, J. (2017). Effects of self-assessment on self-regulated learning and self-efficacy: Four meta-analyses. *Educational Research Review*, 22, 74-98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2017.08.004
- Peng, C. (2021). The academic motivation and engagement of students in English as a foreign language classes: Does teacher praise matter? *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 778174–778174. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.778174
- Qiong, L., Xiujun, D., & Haoyu, L., (2023). Teacher support and learning engagement of EFL learners: The mediating role of self-efficacy and achievement goal orientation. *Current Psychology*, *42*(4), 2619-2635. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-022-04043-5
- Renninger, K. A., & Hidi, S. E. (2020). To level the playing field, develop interest. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 7(1), 10-18. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732219864705
- Rhew, E., Piro, J. S., Goolkasian, P., & Cosentino, P. (2018). The effects of a growth mindset on self-efficacy and motivation. *Cogent Education*, 5(1), 1492337. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2018.1492337
- Ryan, R., & Deci, E. L. (2020). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation from a self-determination theory perspective: Definitions, theory, practices, and future directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *61*, 101860. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101860
- Rice, L., Barth, J. M., Guadagno, R. E., Smith, G. P., & McCallum, D. M. (2013). The role of social support in students' perceived abilities and attitudes toward math and science. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 42*(7), 1028-1040. doi:10.1007/s10964-012-9801-8

- Renninger, K. A., & Hidi, S. E. (2020). To level the playing field, develop interest. *Policy Insights from the Behavioural and Brain Sciences, 7*(1), 10-18. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732219864705
- Saks, K. (2024). The effect of self-efficacy and self-set grade goals on academic outcomes. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *15*, 1324007-1324007. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1324007
- Simpkins, Liu, Y., Hsieh, T.-Y., & Estrella, G. (2020). Supporting Latino high school students' science motivational beliefs and engagement: Examining the unique and collective contributions of family, teachers, and friends. *Educational Psychology (Dorchester-on-Thames)*, *40*(4), 409-429. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2019.1661974
- Schunk, D. (1991). Self-efficacy and academic motivation. *Educational Psychologist, 26* (3), 207-231. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep2603&4_2
- Schunk, D. H. (2003). Self-efficacy for reading and writing: Influence of modeling, goal setting, and self-evaluation. *Reading & Writing Quarterly: Overcoming Learning Difficulties, 19*(2), 159-172. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573560308219
- Schunk, D. H., & Pajares, F. (2009). Self-Efficacy Theory. In K. R Wentzel & A.Wigfield (Eds), Handbook of Motivation at School (pp. 35-53). Routledge, NY.
- Usher, E. L., Butz, A. R., Chen, X.-Y., Ford, C. J., Han, J., Mamaril, N. A., Morris, D. B., Peura, P., & Piercey, R. R. (2023). Supporting self-efficacy development from primary school to the professions: A guide for educators. *Theory into Practice*, *62*(3), 266-278. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2023.2226559
- Usher E. L., Weidner, B. L., (2018). Sociocultural influences on self-efficacy development. In G.A.D. Liem, & D. M. McInerney (Eds.), Big theories revisited 2 (pp.141-164). Information Age.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes.* Harvard University Press.
- Wang, M., & Degol, J. (2013). Motivational pathways to STEM career choices: Using expectancy–value perspective to understand individual and gender differences in STEM fields. *Developmental Review*, *33*(4), 304-340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2013.08.001
- Wigfield, A., Eccles, J. S., Fredricks, J. A., Simpkins, S., Roeser, R. W., & Schiefele, U. (2015). Development of achievement motivation and engagement. In R. M. Lerner (Series Ed.) & M. Lamb (Volume Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology and developmental science*: Vol. 3. Social and emotional development (7th ed., pp. 657-700). John Wiley & Sons.
- Zimmerman, B. J. (2008). Investigating self-regulation and motivation: Historical background, methodological developments, and future prospects. *American Educational Research Journal*, *45*(1), 166-183. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831207312909

About the Author

Dr. Anyichie is an assistant professor in the Department of Educational Psychology and Students' Services in Brandon University. His research focuses on supporting culturally diverse students' regulation of learning, engagement and motivation. He collaborates with educators in designing learning environments based on a culturally responsive self-regulated learning framework (Anyichie, 2018; Anyichie & Butler, 2017) to support engagement and motivation for all learners. He teaches courses in the B.Ed. (e.g., Adolescent Development and the Learning Processes, Evaluation and Assessment) and M.Ed. (e.g., Overview of Educational Issues, Motivation in Education).

BU JOURNAL OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN EDUCATION

Call for Papers

We invite current and past BU Faculty of Education graduate students to submit the following:

- Research Reports
 - reports of educational research completed or in progress
 - o in the range of 2500 to 5000 words
- Refereed Articles
 - o scholarly papers dealing with specific issues in education
 - o in the range of 2500 to 5000 words, including the title, abstract, and list of references
- Special Interest Papers
 - papers of useful, practical interest (such as proposals for services and programs), including a literature base
 - o in the range of 1500 to 3000 words, including the title and list of references
- Opinion Papers
 - o focus on current issues in education
 - maximum 1000 words

We also invite Faculty of Education professors from Brandon University and University College of the North to submit the following:

- Focus on Faculty Research and Teaching
 - o reports of educational research
 - o reflective pieces on teaching
 - o conceptual articles (e.g., theories, methodologies, frameworks, pedagogies)
 - in the range of 1500 to 5000 words

In addition, we invite Bachelor of Education professors from BU to recommend outstanding papers written by their undergraduate students.

- Spotlight on Undergraduate Scholarship
 - topics of interest to pre-service teachers
 - in the range of 2000 to 3000 words

Note to authors:

Prepare your manuscript according to the 7th edition of the *Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association.* Use double-line spacing, one-inch margins, and Times New Roman 12-point font. Include the title of your manuscript, the type of submission (refereed article, etc.), your name, email address, and a 50-word biography on the title page. For a refereed article written by a graduate student or a research report written by a professor, insert a 100-word abstract below the title on page 2.

Send your manuscript electronically to Dr. Marion Terry, Editor (terry@brandonu.ca), as an email attachment in Microsoft Word. All manuscripts that adhere to the content and style requirements will be reviewed.

BU JOURNAL OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN EDUCATION

Call for Cover Illustrations

Brandon University's Faculty of Education invites the following types of cover illustrations for upcoming issues of the *BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education*.

- Paintings
 - digital photographs are preferred, but we will photograph the original painting if necessary
- Photographs
 - o digital photographs only
 - o film developers will convert film negatives into digital images on CD
- Drawings
 - digital photographs are preferred, but we will photograph the original drawing if necessary
- Digital Art
 - digital images only

Note to artists:

If we accept your submission, you will retain ownership of the original artwork, and your name will be added to the list of credits for that issue of the journal.

We are looking for "real-life" images of people, animals, objects, and landscapes. Our covers are reproduced in full colour, so we prefer colour over black-and-white artwork. The journal is dedicated to rural, northern, and Aboriginal education, so we require images that reflect these themes.

If you are submitting original artwork, bring or mail it to –	Dr. Marion Terry Faculty of Education Brandon University 270-18 th Street Brandon MB R7A 6A9
If you are submitting a digital image, email it to –	terry@brandonu.ca

We reserve the right to crop the image to fit our vertical cover dimensions. The maximum opening for artwork is normally $7.5^{\circ} \times 6.75^{\circ}$ (19 cm x 17 cm), but this opening may be reduced to accommodate "special issue" titles.